



# Title: A Comparison of Online News Media Framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine Conflict in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. & China.

**July 2022** 

University of Glasgow ID: 2574393Q

**Dublin City University ID: 20109351** 

**Charles University ID: 18329097** 

Presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of
International Master in Security, Intelligence & Strategic Studies

Word Count: 22,083 Words

Supervisor Name: Dr. Damien Van Puyvelde

**Date of Submission:** 24th July 2022







#### **Dissertation Abstract**

The 2022 conflict between Russia and Ukraine that ensued after the former invaded the latter has received extensive media attention around the world. The news media's framing of the war ultimately has an impact on how its audience views the actions of the conflicting countries, their respective allies as well as other issues pertaining to the conflict. The online news media, due to its relatively easy and broad access, plays a key role in how the war is covered and framed. This study compares how major news websites in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China have framed their coverage of the Russia-Ukraine conflict between from December 2021 when Russia began to amass troops on its border with Ukraine, and the end of April 2022, when the war was still raging in Ukraine. The findings of this study indicate that the online news media's framing of the conflict within each country largely mirror their respective government's stated geostrategic interests regarding the war, particularly in terms of security, economics, energy supply and geopolitics. The comparison of each country's online news coverage is presented with respect to four key indicators, which are emphasis, sentiments expressed, volume of coverage as well as phrasing & terminology. By combining Artificial-Intelligence based Topic Extraction and Sentiment Analysis models on 24,422 online news article headlines pertaining to the conflict, this research project identifies, examines and compares the inherent frames present in the news headlines with the aim of avoiding much of the subjectivity and idiosyncrasy that often besets manual methods of frame analysis.

#### **Keywords:**

2022 Russia-Ukraine Conflict, Online Media, News Framing, Frame, Analysis, Content Analysis, Artificial Intelligence, Sentiment Analysis, Topic Extraction, War, NATO, Ukraine, Russia, China, U.S.

## **Table of Contents**

1.	Int	roduction	5
	1.1.	Research Question	6
	1.2.	Chapter Overview	8
	1.3.	Relevance of Research Topic	9
2.	Me	edia Framing & Conflicts	11
	2.1.	Media Framing	11
	2.2.	The Role of the Media & Framing in Conflicts	15
	2.3.	Media Coverage of Russia-Ukraine Conflicts	17
	2.4.	Geopolitical Interests Manifested in Media Coverages	22
	2.5.	Disinformation & the Media	27
3.	Pos	st-Soviet Russo-Ukrainian Relations	30
	3.1.	Ukraine's NATO Aspirations & Russia's Objections	33
	3.2.	Ukraine's Dilemma: East or West?	35
	3.3.	2014 Annexation of Crimea	38
	3.4.	Build-up to the February 2022 Invasion	41
	3.5.	The February 2022 Invasion & Its Aftermath	44
4.	Re	search Design & Methodology	52
	4.1.	Research Design	52
	4.2.	Data Selection Process	55
	4.3.	Data Collection	56
	4.4.	Data Analysis	58
	4.5.	Methodological Assessment	59
5.	Re	search Findings	61
	5.1.	Overview of Findings	61
	5.2.	Emphasis	62

	5.3.	Sentiments Expressed	64
	5.4.	Volume of Coverage	69
	5.5.	Phrasing & Terminology	71
	5.6.	Implications of Findings	72
6.	Lin	nitations of Research	76
	6.1.	Overview of Project Limitations	76
	6.2.	Heavy Reliance on News Material	76
	6.3.	Sampling Limitations & Access Restrictions	77
	6.4.	Accuracy of Language Translation & AI-Based Models	78
	6.5.	Future Research	79
7.	Coı	nclusion	80
8.	Bib	liography	82

#### 1. Introduction

Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 has received significant media coverage and drawn substantial public interest globally (De Witte, 2022). In addition, the conflict between Russia and Ukraine resulting from the invasion presents a myriad of geostrategic challenges including inter alia humanitarian crises, threats to food and energy, disinformation and information warfare (Wither, 2016). This research project compares the main differences and similarities in the framing of online news article headlines about the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war by major news websites in Ukraine, Russia, the United States (U.S) and China.

The findings of this study indicate that the online news media's framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict within Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China has been consistent with the their respective government's geostrategic interests especially vis-à-vis security, economic, energy and political considerations. This correlation within the research data indicates potential editorial synchronization, a situation whereby a news agency's reporting closely mirrors the sentiments of its national government regarding a specific issue or topic. Contrary to the research hypothesis however, the overall framing of the conflict by news websites in Ukraine and the U.S. on one hand and Russia and China on the other, were not as similar within each allied group as expected at the beginning of this project. Although there were some similarities in online news' framing of aspects of the conflict within each sets of allied nations, there were significant differences as well, particularly in terms of the emphasis and sentiments expressed. Although there is a significant body of academic literature on Russia-Ukraine conflict following Russia's annexation of Crimea in 2014, the more recent conflict following the former's large-scale invasion of the latter lacks as much available research largely due to the fact that is quite recent and still ongoing. This research project seeks to help fill the gap in the academic literature on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict by shedding some light on how the online news media within the belligerent countries and their major allies are framing the conflict for their respective audiences.

The findings in this study are based on the frame analysis of 24,422 online news article headlines related to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict published between the buildup of Russian forces along Ukraine's borders in December 2021 and April 2022 when Russian and Ukrainian forces were still engaged in full-scale conflict within Ukraine after the former invaded the latter. In order to limit the subjectivity and idiosyncrasies that frequently often limits the reproducibility of research based on frame analysis (Matthes and Kohring, 2008), this study opted to rely on identifying the embedded frames within the online news sample data using Artificial Intelligence based Topic Extraction and Sentiment Analysis software. This approach ensured that the process of identifying the elements of the media frames was both consistent and reproducible as well as scalable to include much larger dataset compared to the alternative manual methods.

While the scope of this study was restricted to focus on just a partial duration of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict and the research data was only sampled from a limited number of major news websites chiefly due to time and resource constraints, the research methodology employed supports an expansion in scope regarding both the time frame and the sampled data size which is potentially beneficial to future research on this topic.

#### 1.1. Research Question

The main research question for this project is "what are the differences and similarities between the online news media's framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict in Ukraine, Russia, the United States and China"?

#### **Aims & Objectives**

This research project aims to combine both quantitative and qualitative empirical data about online news reporting on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict in order to compare how the conflict has been framed within on websites predominantly viewed by the respective audiences in Ukraine, Russia, the United States and China. The quantitative data comprises the news stories and their corresponding metadata while the qualitative data consists of academic literature, government, news reports and organizational publications on Russia-Ukraine relations prior and during the conflict. This project examines online news reports from 1<sup>st</sup> December 2021 when warnings of a potential Russian invasion of Ukraine started to emerge in international news to 30<sup>th</sup> April 2022, an end date chosen purely chosen for practical reasons to allow adequate time to meet this project's deadline.

## This project seeks to:

- i. Identify empirical differences and similarities in the framing of 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict by the online news media within Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China through the use of Artificial-Intelligence based Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction software.
- ii. Compare and contrast the online news media's framing in terms of the emphasis, sentiments expressed, phrasing and terminology used as well as the volume of the reporting.
- iii. Interpret the identified empirical similarities and differences in the online media framing through the lens of post-soviet Russia-Ukraine relations along with the other major geostrategic actors like the U.S. and China.

## **Research Hypothesis**

This research question is based on the hypothesis that the framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict within Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China will reflect each country's geostrategic

interests regarding the war particularly in terms of each country's security, economic, energy and political considerations. Since Ukraine and Russia are the primary conflicting parties, this project assumes there will be major differences in how the online news media in either country frames the conflict. In addition, the online media coverage in the U.S. and China is expected to mirror the framing of the Ukrainian and Chinese media respectively to a large extent based on their strategic alliances.

## 1.2. Chapter Overview

This research project comprises eight chapters, each providing insights into various aspects of the project's planning, implementation and findings among others. This introductory chapter, Chapter One, presents research question and its underlying hypothesis as well at the research objectives and explains the relevance of the chosen topic to the fields of strategic and security studies. Chapter Two delves into media framing, the role of the media in conflicts and specifically looks at the news media's coverage of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict.

Chapter Three provides a summary of the various aspects of Russia-Ukraine relations, particularly after the collapse of the Soviet Union and highlights key events that have contributed to Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022. This chapters also covers the involvement of other geostrategic actors like the U.S., China, NATO, the European Union (E.U.) and their respective interests in the conflict. Chapter Four explains in detail the research methodology employed for this study including the research design as well as the data selection, collection and analysis processes.

Chapter Five outlines the research findings on how the online news media in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China frame their reporting on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict between 1st December 2021 and 30<sup>th</sup> April 2022. The research findings in this chapter are presented in four

parts, each with a specific media framing indicator. These parts are emphasis of the media coverage, sentiments expressed, volume of the coverage and the phrasing & terminology used. Chapter Five then concludes with an assessment of the research findings vis-à-vis the main hypothesis underlying the research project.

Chapter Six highlights the limitations of the research project and explains the main challenges faced during the project's implementation. In addition, this chapter puts forward suggestions on how future research on the subject can avoid similar challenges in order to obtain more accurate and representational findings. Chapter Seven concludes the research project by recapping the research objectives, methodology and findings.

## 1.3. Relevance of Research Topic

While there is extensive academic literature on media framing of past conflicts across different time periods and geographical locations, there is currently comparatively little research on how the news media has framed the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict. Therefore, the unique merits of this research project lie in its focus on the media framing of a conflict that is still very much unfolding. In addition, this research project offers a comparison of the differences and similarities in concurrent media framing on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict from multiple points of view, namely from major Ukrainian, Russian, American and Chinese online news medias' perspectives. Although there is considerable research on media framing of Russia's 2014 annexation and occupation of Crimea, there is gap in the literature on the conflict following Russia's 2022 invasion of Ukraine due to the contemporary nature of the latter.

The news media outlets, especially the ones with online channels are critical to shaping the opinion of their audiences on critical issues. This phenomenon can be seen with the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war (Oleinik, 2022) just as it has with other past major conflicts around the world.

In addition, the war has caused a humanitarian crisis in Ukraine and had a major negative effect on the global economy leading to reduced supply of several commodities and products (Tooze, 2022. Considering these regional and global ramifications of the war, the way the news media frames the conflict will likely influence how people in the conflicting countries, their allies and around the world think about the war. This research project seeks to shed some more light on how the media is framing the conflict in the countries critical to the conflict.

#### 2. Media Framing & Conflicts

#### 2.1. Media Framing

Framing, also referred to as frame analysis or framing theory, is a very vague and scattered concept which often lacks a clear definition but rather relies chiefly on context-specific applications. The concept of framing conjures up a variety of meaning within different social science disciplines, largely due to the concept's dual origins, one in psychology and the other in sociology (Entman, 1993). The genesis of framing within psychology places a greater emphasis on the micro level by understanding how individuals' perceptions are formed regarding specific points of reference. The sociological roots of framing on the other hand focuses more on the macro level by seeking to recognise how groups of people collectively respond to information presented to them via some form of media in terms of their perception and interpretation of that information (Oliver et al, 2019: 12).

While definitions of frame analysis vary from one discipline to another, Matthes (2009) defines it as "a multi-disciplinary social science research method used to analyze how people understand situations and activities". Matthes further explains that frame analysis examines how factors such as images, stereotypes, actors, messages inter alia are used to create a specific frame about an issue within an audience and how important each of these factors are. Media framing, a subset of frame analysis, within communication studies fuses both the psychological and sociological approaches to framing theory to analyse "a central organizing idea or story line that provides meaning to an unfolding strip of events" (Gamson and Modigliani, 1987). In assessing the interaction between the news media and its audience, frame analysis provides a very useful conceptual model with which to understand the format, impact and implications of that interaction (Altheide, 1997).

Beyond the obvious direct relationship the news media has with its audience, the influence of the former can also extend into realm of government policy. Research by Robinson (Robinson, 1999) indicates the news media can impact the formulation and execution of government policy, especially when the policy on the specific issue in question is unclear, weak or lacking a consensus among policy makers. This phenomenon of the news media's influence on policy making is referred to as "The CNN Effect" in political science and international relations (Gilboa, 2005). In such instances, the way the news media frames its reporting on such policy issues can also significantly influence and shape the perception of its audience about a particular government policy. According to Robinson (Robinson, 1999), a critical framing of a policy issue by the news media can turn public sentiment against that policy. Conversely, a positive framing of the policy can build public support and reduce policy opposition.

Given the partly amorphous nature of frame analysis, there is the need to root the process within a more practical and tangible foundation in order to render it useful. Content analysis provides an effective solution for this challenge (Saraisky, 2016). Proponents of content analysis emphasize its reliability and reproducibility provided the accompanying coding scheme is designed and implemented properly (Krippendorff, 1989: 403-409).

## **Methods of Content Analysis**

Media frames are typically identified through some form of content analysis of the media reports. Matthes and Kohring (Matthes and Kohring, 2008) identified the five (5) common content analysis methods employed by researchers as the hermeneutic, linguistic, computer-assisted, manual holistic, and deductive approaches respectively. The methodology of this research project mostly combines elements of the syntactical and semantical processes of the linguistic approach together with the software based computer-assisted approach to identify the innate frames of the online news articles about the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war.

The hermeneutic approach of using content analysis to identify media frames relies on small samples of media reports that represent the dominant discourse of a particular issue or event.

This approach relies heavily on broad generalizations and widely perceived cultural elements of a given audience (Boni, 2002). Although most studies that rely on this form of content analysis tend to be well documented and thorough, it is usually difficult to objectively determine how the researchers extracted the frames due to the method's highly subjective nature (Matthes and Kohring, 2008). As a result, there is a risk of the researcher identifying frames arbitrarily hindering the likelihood of reproducibility and verification of research findings very low (Reese, 2001).

The manual holistic approach to content analysis is a procedure-based strategy that first requires the identification of the embedded frames through a qualitative analysis of the text. The identified frames are coded as holistic variables which are subsequently used as the basis for a more detailed but manual content analysis of the text corpus (Matthes and Kohring, 2008). This method bears many similarities to the hermeneutic approach and suffers from comparable disadvantages too. The manual holistic approach's process of identifying the frames in a given text is also prone to subjectivity which poses significant risks to the reliability and the validity of its research findings.

Frame analyses based on the linguistic approach involves the identification and examination of the syntactical structures within a given text corpus (Esser and D'Angelo, 2003). According to the choice, placement and arrangement of specific words, phrases and sentences, the linguistic-based approach captures the multilayered frames and concepts and provides insights into the relationships between them (Vicari, 2010). While this method provides a thorough and systematic process for analysing news text, its complexity makes it difficult to implement on large text samples (Esser and D'Angelo, 2003) without combining it with the computer-assisted approach.

The computer-assisted approach to content analysis uses software or computer-based models to find particular meaning embedded in the text being analysed. Very often, this process is done using Machine Learning (ML) and Artificial Intelligence (AI) based software programmes (Burscher et al., 2014). The ML and AI based systems used for content analysis perform complex syntactic and semantic computations on the content to identify the frames and often provide quantitative measures of the frames as well (Yan, et al., 2014). The computer-based strategy to content analysis is well-suited for examining large amounts of text since it allows researchers to automate the frame coding process, therefore ensuring consistency and reliability of the results (Burscher et al., 2014). For instance, Shah et al (2002) were able to extensively analyse 19,085 electronic articles using on the computer-based approach. Despite the consistency and scalability of this approach to content analysis, its efficacy ultimately depends on the accuracy of the software models being employed.

As its name suggests, the deductive approach to content analysis relies on the use of deduction in order to recognize frames within a given text. This is contrary to the four other methods of content analysis which attempt to identify the inherent frames in the text through induction (Matthes and Kohring, 2008). An example of how the deductive approach can be used for frame analysis is the research by Semetko and Valkenburg (2000) titled "Framing European Politics: A Content Analysis of Press and Television News". In this study, the researchers sought to confirm the presence of their preconceived frames within the news based on their own hypotheses by analyzing each news story with a series of 20 "yes" or "no" questions. The primary requirement for this approach is that the frames are proposed a priori to the actual research process. However, the obvious drawback is that a wrong hypothesis of the frames present in the analysed text would result in very little valuable academic insights if any at all.

This research projects mostly relies the computer-assisted approach to content analysis to examine the headlines of online articles related to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict from major

news websites in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China with the aim of identifying and analyzing how the online news media in each country frames the conflict. The specific tools for this process are Artificial Intelligence based software for Topic Extraction and Sentiment Analysis. Further details on this approach are provided in the Research Design & Methodology section of this study.

## 2.2. The Role of the Media & Framing in Conflicts

According to the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation's (NATO) Strategic Communications Centre of Excellence, the media plays three main roles in a conflict. These roles are critical observers, adversarial journalists and an actual extension of the battlefield within which the conflict can also be fought between the adversaries (Szwed, 2016: 15).

The first role of critical observer requires journalistic professionalism and objectivity in order to make critical judgements on the events and actors of the conflict while remaining immune to the influence of the parties to the conflict as well as third parties with vested interests (Szwed, 2016: 15). The media as a critical observer of the conflict is a vital role for establishing the facts of the conflict with as little political bias as possible. In the second role, the media carries out adversarial journalism whereby journalists and media sources take a clear position on the conflict sacrificing their objectivity in the process. Journalists engaging in adversarial journalism within the context of a conflict often do so in an attempt to further the position of their chosen side and or to counter the position of the opposing side (Szwed, 2016: 15).

In the third role according to NATO's Strategic Communications Centre of Excellence, the media becomes a domain within which the conflicting parties battle each other in an attempt to dominate the space in pursuit of particular strategic objectives akin to how they would engage

on the land, in the sea and the air (Szwed, 2016: 16). Despite the clear distinctions of these three roles in theory, the ubiquity of the internet and associated technologies like social media have increasingly made it difficult and complex to confidently make these differentiations in practice.

First applied by Swedish researcher Kent Asp, the concept of *Mediatisation* implied that "a political system to a high degree is influenced by and adjusted to the demands of the mass media in their coverage of politics" (Hjarvard, 2008). Even though Asp's initial application of the concept was based largely on political systems, Mediatisation has also been shown to be equally relevant in conflicts and wars by Hjarvard (2008) as well as Cottle (2006). Cottle for instance explains that the role of the media within a conflict constitutes an "active performative involvement" within the conflict.

The audience size and scale of operations of certain major media sources enable them to play unique roles in shaping the narratives of certain conflicts. Due to their global reach, international media sources like the British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC), the Cable News Network (CNN), Al Arabiya and Al Jazeera often have an "agenda-setting" and "policy-setting" effect, especially regarding conflicts (Bajraktari and Parajon, 2022). Such media sources can diminish or exaggerate the scale, impact and intensity of a conflict, effectively deciding what kind and level of attention their audiences pay to the conflict in question. Research by the United States Institute of Peace indicates that the assumption that the media pays more attention to conflicts the greater the number of deaths and scale of destruction is false. According to the institute, there is no correlation between the death and destruction of a given conflict on one hand, and the corresponding level of media attention given to that conflict (Bajraktari and Parajon, 2022).

The news media has been a present component of warfare at least since the late 19<sup>th</sup> century with major changes in technology often marking an epoch in the relationship between the news agencies, the public within the warring nations as well as the combatants. Leveraging the nascent medium of photography between 1853 and 1856, journalists were able to publish their articles in print with pictures from the fronts of the Crimean war to their audiences across Europe (Parker, 2020). Radio news broadcasts were a regular source of information during World War II (Arnold et al, 2019: 173). From 1955 to 1975, the Vietnam War would become the first major televised conflict with video footage of the fighting broadcast to American televisions (Mandelbaum, 1982). Many people around the world followed the 2003 Iraq invasion on news websites, getting regular and frequent updates as the ensuing war progressed (Fox and Fallows, 2003). Social media, as the latest information medium, has become a frequently used channel for providing conflict-related updates to audiences online (Suciu, 2022).

For almost two centuries, the news media has provided coverage of conflicts around the world to some extent. Undoubtedly, the news coverage of each conflict came with its own set of associated media frames As a contemporary conflict, the news coverage of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict has included all mediums, television, radio, print, online and social media. News media coverage of future conflicts will certainly also come with their inherent frames as it has been in the past.

#### 2.3. Media Coverage of Russia-Ukraine Conflicts

The 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict has received extensive media coverage around the world (De Witte, 2022) with many international news agencies embedding their journalists in Ukraine to provide up regular updates (Eddy and Fletcher, 2022). Months after Russia invaded Ukraine,

the subsequent conflict has remained a mainstream news top story due to a range of reasons including the obvious geostrategic significance and humanitarian impact of the war as well as its implications for the global economy, food and energy security (Zurawik, 2022). The Western news media's coverage of the war in Ukraine has noticeably outweighed its attention to other ongoing conflicts like the civil wars in Yemen and Ethiopia for example (Gharib, 2022).

Indicating the substantial interest in news about the war in Ukraine, several news websites even created special tabs on their navigation menus dedicated to news about the conflict. Such tabs are often created on websites to make it easy for visitors to identify and located popular content. Some websites also had keyword tags related to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict. A detailed analysis on the volume of media coverage of the war in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China is provided below in the Research Findings section of this study.

However, as the war drags on, there risk of audience fatigue of hearing about the fighting and casualties increases while media interest may also decline (Sabbagh, 2022). A study by Eddy and Fletcher (2022) at the University of Oxford's Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism show that the news audiences in some countries have gradually began to either lose interest in news regarding the war in Ukraine or are actively avoiding it.

#### **Double-Standards of Media Coverage**

Following the Russia's invasion on Ukraine in February 2022, several major media sources have been widely accused of systematically different reporting of invasion and subsequent conflict between Russia and Ukraine compared to other conflicts in regions like the Middle-East and Africa. "Compared to other conflicts, the Russian invasion of Ukraine has generated wall-to-wall news coverage, resulting in criticisms of Western bias and racism" (De Witte,

2022). For instance, CBS News foreign correspondent Charlie D'agata was heavily criticized by social media users for implying that the war in Ukraine was surprising because it was in a civilised country unlike Iraq or Afghanistan (Al Lawati and Ebrahim, 2022).

In a similar vein, many social media users condemned the BBC reporter Ross Atkins for the racist tone of his interview with Ukraine's former deputy prosecutor, David Sakvarelidze. During this interview, Sakvarelidze complained that "It's very emotional for me because I see European people with blonde hair and blue eyes being killed every day with Putin's missiles and his helicopters and his rockets" to which Atkins replied, "I understand and of course respect the emotion" (Al Jazeera, 2022a).

Satirist and comedian Trevor Noah also accused Al Jazeera reporter Peter Dobbie of double standards and discrimination when Dobbie sought to distinguish between Ukrainian refugees displaced by the Russia-Ukraine conflict and refugees fleeing conflicts in North Africa. In Dobbie's report, he stated that "These (the Ukrainians) are prosperous, middle-class people... these are not people trying to get away from areas in North Africa" (Carras, 2022).

D'agata (2002) and Atkins (2022) apologized following the widespread condemnation they received for their disparaging remarks during their reporting. Al Jazeera issued an apology for Dobbie's "...unfair comparisons between Ukrainians fleeing the war and refugees from the MENA region". (Kilani, 2022). Such remarks from D'agata, Atkins, Dobbie and many other reporters clearly demonstrate some of the differences in racial and geographical framing of the Russia-Ukraine conflict compared to other conflicts in the Middle-East and Africa by certain major media sources like CBS News, the BBC and al Jazeera.

The media's discriminatory coverage of conflicts along racial, geographical and socioeconomic lines are however not a recent phenomenon. After researching four decades of news media's framing of wars across Africa and Europe from the 1970s to the early 2000s, Sommerville (2017) concluded that there were stark differences in the way the conflicts in either continent were generally framed. According to Sommerville, European conflicts in places like Bosnia, Serbia-Croatia and the Basque region of Spain were largely presented by the media as forms of nationalism and an intrinsic component of a more developed and civilized form of societal development. Conflicts in African countries like Rwanda, Kenya and South Sudan on the other hand were depicted using simplistic, primitive and racist tones analogous with the attitudes of the colonial era (Somerville, 2017).

#### **Press Freedom & Media Bias**

In order to carry out honest and unbiased reporting, the news media must operate in an environment that promotes press freedom (United Nations, 2016). In addition, the news agencies' ability to present the news to their audiences with objectivity is directly dependent on how well the agencies are able to control and minimize the biases, especially when reporting on polarizing issues and topics (Klein, 2020). Often referred to as the defacto 4<sup>th</sup> estate of government (Webster, 2001: 15), after the executive, legislature and judiciary, the news media is crucial for keeping the citizens of a state aware of the actions of their governments. The news media's ability to effectively carry out this civic necessity is however predicated largely on the degree of press freedom enjoyed as well as the degree to which journalistic and editorial bias can be kept under control (Druckman and Parkin, 2005).

According to the World Press Freedom Index (WPFI), an annual global ranking of countries based on their press freedom performance by Reporters Without Borders, the media in the U.S. and Ukraine enjoyed more freedom compared to Russia and China. The index assesses 180 countries and territories considering a quantitative tally and a qualitative analysis of press abuses and subsequently assigning each country a score ranging from 0 to 100, with 100 being

the best possible score. The WPFI 2022 report assigned the U.S. and Ukraine with a score of 72.74 and 55.76 respectively while Russia and China on the other hand received lower scores of 38.82 and 25.17 respectively.

Several Western governments and international organisations have accused the Russian government of censoring the reporting of the conflict in Ukraine by Russian news outlets (Reuters, 2022). Russia's communications regulator, the Federal Communications Agency under the country's Ministry of Digital Development, Communications & Mass Media, ordered media sources in Russia to avoid using words and phrases like "invasion", "assault", "declaration of war" in their reportage on the conflict in Ukraine (Agence France-Presse, 2022). Instead the agency encouraged the Russian media to use the state-approved euphemism, "special military action" (Nechepurenko and Troianovski, 2022). Similarly, the news media in China has been subjected to systematic censorship for several decades. Xu and Albert (2022) have described the situation in China as "the world's most restrictive media environments, relying on censorship to control information in the news, online and on social media".

However, external government suppression is not the only structural issue that can hamper effective media reporting. The news media also often has to contend with forces of internal bias attempting to influence its reporting on certain issue. A good example of such an internal force is what Herman and Chomskly's (2002) dubbed "Manufacturing Consent". The concept of Manufactured Consent primarily argues that the news media "are effective and powerful ideological institutions that carry out a system-supportive propaganda function, by reliance on market forces, internalized assumptions, and self-censorship, and without overt coercion". Such internal influences within the news media ranges from the need to amass a greater audience, catering to advertisers and special interest groups all of which can result in self-censorship and diluted reporting. Such biases can skew reporting and in certain instances is

much more pervasive and harder to detect compared to the often overt government censorship (Eberl et al., 2016).

Growing political polarization particularly within countries with democratic political systems has become another source of bias which percolates into the news media. The 2022 World Press Freedom Index (WPFI) characterizes this problem as a "new era of polarization set against a backdrop of information chaos with deepening divisions within countries but also between countries at the international level" (Reporters Without Borders, 2022). The WPFI came to this conclusion by analyzing the political, economic and socio-cultural contexts, legal framework, and security situations around the world. Reporters Without Borders' (RSF) Director of Operations and Campaigns, Rebecca Vincent attributed a significant cause of the polarization to what she calls the "Fox News Model" of opinion media, a reference to the U.S. news corporation The Fox News Channel. Christophe Deloire, RSF's Secretary General also added that the "Fox News-isation of Western media poses a fatal danger for democracies because it undermines the basis of civil harmony and tolerant public debate" (Joshi, 2022). It is important to note that news articles from Fox News' website was included in the study's research data.

It is likely that the online news data analysed in this study was subject to some degree of the previously mentioned phenomena such as editorial synchronisation, mediatisation and biases that often influence the news production, dissemination and digestion cycle. However, the determination of whether and to what extent these phenomena are present within this study's data as well as their impact on the research findings is outside the scope of this project.

### 2.4. Geopolitical Interests Manifested in Media Coverages

The conflict in Ukraine has had several major geostrategic ramifications. Beyond the more obvious deaths, displacement and destruction of infrastructure in Ukraine, the war has also

adversely impacted several aspects of the global economy. In addition, the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict has the makings of becoming the start of the "New Cold War" that would pitch the dominant West against the emerging revisionist powers China and Russia (Abrams, 2022) with much of the rest of the world caught in the middle. The governments of many regional powers like India, Brazil, Mexico, South Africa, Turkey and Indonesia have remained largely neutral, refusing to condemn Russia for the invasion of Ukraine and some even avoiding overtly declaring support for Ukraine in order to protect their respective economic and strategic interests (Depetris and Menon, 2022).

Demonstrating this phenomenon was the voting pattern at the 2<sup>nd</sup> March 2022 UN General Assembly resolution calling for Russia to end its offensive in Ukraine (United Nations, 2022). Despite the major support from many Western countries for the resolution, 40 countries, mostly from Africa, the Middle East and Asia either openly opposed the resolution or refused to support it largely due to their reliance on Russian energy, weapons as well as other geostrategic considerations (Adeoye, 2022).

While reporting on conflicts, some news sources, particularly government-affiliated media agencies are not always immune to the political influences of the governments of the countries they operate in and this is evident in both liberal democratic countries as well as authoritarian ones. Nelson (Nelson, 2019) found indicators of "Editorial Synchronisation" between the framing of Russia's annexation of Crimea in 2014 and NATO's intervention in Libya in 2011 by Russia Today (RT) and the Russian government's statements. Nelson also identified a similar phenomenon with the Voice of America (VOA) and the United States' government. In addition, the symbiotic relationship between the news media and the government of the country it operates in during times of war undoubtedly influences the media's coverage of the conflict in question (Badsey, 2014).

### News Media Reporting on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine Conflict in Ukraine

As the victim of the invasion, the Ukrainian news media has been compelled to shed light on the fighting on the battlefield as well as counter the propaganda campaigns by Russia (York, 2022). The news on the invasion and war within Ukraine has largely consisted of both the reporting and analysis by journalists and personal accounts provided by Ukrainian citizens who have been affected by the conflict (Al Jazeera, 2022b). In addition, the Ukrainian government has also used both the news media and social media platforms to implement a communication strategy aimed at building morale among Ukrainians, generating international support for Ukraine as well as publicizing the impact of Russia's aggression on the Ukrainian people and economy (Bubich, 2022). Ukrainian President Volodymyr Zelenskyy has personally given regular domestic and international addresses using both the news media and social media platforms to provide updates on the conflict (Turp-Balazs, 2022).

The Russian government has however accused the Ukrainian media of falsifying and exaggerating conflict-related casualties and the victories of Ukrainian forces against the Russian military as well as the extent of damage to infrastructure caused by Russia. For instance, Russian officials contested the Ukrainian media's reporting on the Russian military's shelling of a maternity hospital in Mariupol in March 2022 (Sadeghi, 2022) as well as a June 2022 missile attack on a shopping centre in Kremenchuk. Both incidents were fact-checked independently by several international media agencies and deemed to be true. As is often the case, the true extent of casualties and destruction as well as the actions of each belligerent's forces will not be fully understood until the conflict ends and the fog of war is lifted (Andreas and Greenhill, 2011).

#### News Media Reporting on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine Conflict in Russia

The news on the war in Ukraine within Russia has been subject to significant censorship by the Russian government to the extent that, the government has actively sought to prevent the reporting from containing words like "war" and "invasion" but rather use the less harsh-sounding "Special Military Operation" (Sangal et al., 2022). Unsurprisingly, the heavily controlled Russian news media has consistently downplayed scale of the conflict in Ukraine as well as understating losses while exaggerating gains by the Russian military there (Thompson, 2022). In addition, the Russian news media has largely reflected the numerous and occasionally conflicting justifications for the Russian invasion of Ukraine including to prevent the threat of NATO's eastward expansion, the "De-Nazification" of the Ukrainian government and even retaking Ukrainian territory which is historically Russia's by right (Mateo, 2018).

Shortly after it invaded Ukraine, the Russian government moved quickly to establish control of the narrative regarding the ensuing conflict and its numerous consequences including the unprecedented range of sanctions against Russia by Western countries. In what has widely been condemned as censorship, the Russian government's Federal Service for Supervision of Communication (Roskomnadzor) issued a directive on the 24<sup>th</sup> February 2022, the day the invasion commenced, demanding that all news media agencies and social media companies to avoid disseminating false information in accordance with Russian laws (Roskomnadzor, 2022). However, this reference to false information would prove to mean anything that runs contrary to the Russian government's position and account of events (Kharpal, 2022).

## News Media Reporting on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine Conflict in U.S.

The US news media has shown unparalleled interest in the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war. In March 2022 for instance, three major U.S. news broadcasters ABC, CBS and NBC collectively spent more time covering the war in Ukraine than any other month of any other conflict over the past

three decades, including the 2003 U.S. invasion of Iraq (Heuvel, 2022). The mainstream media and political commentators in the United States have framed Russia's invasion of Ukraine as an "earth-shattering violation of international norms" (Aleem, 2022) which according to the President of the Council on Foreign Relations Richard Haass, has the potential to decide if the world will continue to operate by "rules or whether anarchy will prevail" (Haass, 2022). In addition, the US news media has systematically demonized Russian President Vladimir Putin and sought to blame him personally for the conflict in Ukraine with much less emphasis on the nuance and context pertaining to the conflict (Al Jazeera, 2022c). In addition, reflecting several senior U.S. officials' comments, a significant theme of the U.S. media has blamed Russia's invasion of Ukraine for both domestic and global inflation as well as high energy prices, commodity shortages and the risk of a global financial recession (Luscombe, 2022).

### News Media Reporting on the 2022 Russia-Ukraine Conflict in China

In the state-controlled Chinese news media landscape, the West is largely portrayed as the root cause of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict due to Western provocations and meddling in Russia's sphere of influence, compelling Russia to respond in order to protect itself from the Western threat (Cheung, 2022). In wording mirroring the Russian government's official labelling of the war in Ukraine, the Chinese state news agencies, Xinhua and CCTV frequently call the conflict the "Special Military Operation" (Cheung, 2022). In China, the government leverages its control on the news media to simultaneously enhance the public perception of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) and disseminate propaganda against the West as part of the Chinese government's strategy to counter what it perceives to be the globally dominant Western narrative (Kumar, 2022). To this end, the Chinese government is investing heavily to establish Chinese controlled news media outlets with international reach to assert greater

control on the narrative about China as well as other major globally relevant events and issues (Albert, 2018).

#### 2.5. Disinformation & the Media

The 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict is unfolding online like no other war in history, providing real-time information online and social media platforms, making the role of these online news and social media platforms a key factor in shaping the framing of the conflict. This phenomenon not only creates the ideal situation for disinformation, but also brings about a digital fog of war (Duffy and Metz, 2022). Like many modern conflicts, there have been numerous instances of "manipulated photos, false statements, state propaganda and deep-fake videos" in the 2022 Russia-Ukraine (Deutsche Welle, 2022).

NATO defines disinformation as the "deliberate creation and dissemination of false and/or manipulated information with the intent to deceive and/or mislead" (NATO, 2022). Although disinformation is often used interchangeably with misinformation, the latter is defined as the spreading of false information unintentionally. As these definitions suggest the key difference between disinformation and misinformation lays more with the intent of the propagator and less with the actual content being propagated.

The EU DisinfoLab, a European NGO that focuses on researching and tackling disinformation campaigns targeting EU member nations, states that the news media is a crucial actor in the propagation of disinformation. The EU DisinfoLab indicates that both mainstream news brands as well as small websites with questionable authenticity posing as news publishers have been implicated in the spread of Fake News (EU DisinfoLab, 2021). Shedding more light on this trend, research by Tsfati et al (2020) further indicates that although much disinformation may originate from what they termed fake news websites, the reach of such websites is relatively

limited. The spread of this fake news however grows significantly when the mainstream media outlets begin to report on the disinformation material.

In recent times, "Fake News" has become amorphous and vague term connoting a wide and varied range of poorly defined concepts centred on spreading false and or misleading information (Johnstone, 2018). As a response, the British government in 2018 officially banned civil servants from using the phrase "Fake News" in any official government documents or communications. Instead, the UK government has instructed the government workers to opt rather for either the more definitive deliberate "disinformation" or the unintentional "misinformation" (Palmer, 2018).

While disinformation is often associated with authoritarian countries like Russia and China (Bandurski, 2022), it is increasingly becoming common in other countries, even Western liberal democracies. A 2019 report by the Oxford Internet Institute found evidence of organised online disinformation and manipulation campaigns by political parties, private industry, civil society organisations and fringe movements in 70 countries including Western nations like the U.S., U.K., Australia, Sweden, Germany and Spain (Bradshaw and Howard, 2019). The report indicates that while the groups behind the disinformation activity largely used social media platforms, the groups also exploited the news media in a variety of ways. For instance, the report found that several disinformation actors used fake news stories and in some cases, even fake news websites as part of their disinformation tactics (Bradshaw and Howard, 2019: 15).

According to the Oxford Internet Institutes, state actors use disinformation as a tool for information control as well as a strategy for foreign influence operations. Countries like China, Russia, Cuba, Angola, Eritrea and Turkey use disinformation as a means to suppress dissent, discredit critics and drown out opposing views. In addition, political actors in China, Russia,

India, Pakistan, Iran, Saudi Arabia and Venezuela opted to employ disinformation as a part of foreign influence operations as a foreign policy tool (Bradshaw and Howard, 2019: 4-5).

Within Russia's military circles, the concept of "Information Confrontation" serves as the guiding principle for Russian disinformation and propaganda efforts both during war and in peacetime (U.S. Department of State, 2020). Information Confrontation also constitutes a major aspect of Russian Active Measures, a wide variety of tactics and techniques that include propaganda, forgery and assassinations (Abrams, 2016). According to the US State Department, "Russia's disinformation and propaganda ecosystem is the collection of official, proxy, and unattributed communication channels and platforms that Russia uses to create and amplify false narratives" (U.S. Department of State, 2020). Russia's disinformation ecosystem is underpinned by five main pillars; "official government communications, state-funded global messaging, cultivation of proxy sources, weaponization of social media, and cyber-enabled disinformation" (U.S. Department of State, 2020). Falling under the state-funded global messaging and cyber-enabled disinformation pillars of Russia's Information Confrontation, the online news media will most likely continue to play a critical role in Russia's overall strategy in its war with Ukraine as well as other subsequent conflicts.

#### 3. Post-Soviet Russo-Ukrainian Relations

The relationship between Ukraine and Russia following the collapse of the Soviet Union has been "strained, unstable and indeed, abnormal" (Solchanyk, 2001). Various points of contention between both countries including territorial disputes over the Crimea region (Frederick, 2014) and Ukraine's potential ascension to the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO) have been at the heart of the tension between both countries over the past three decades (Houeix, 2022).

Officially known as the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR), the Soviet Union was a federal union of fifteen countries sprawled across much of Eurasia that existed between 1922 and 1991. The member states of the Soviet Union were Russia, Ukraine, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Estonia, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Latvia, Lithuania, Moldova, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. Ukrainian Socialist Republic or simply Soviet Ukraine, was a significant part of the Soviet Union. Soviet Ukraine was the most economically important country in the Soviet Union after Russia and was responsible for more than a quarter of entire Soviet agricultural output. Due to this substantial agricultural contribution of meat, milk, grain and vegetables, Soviet Ukraine was nicknamed the bread basket of the USSR (Central Intelligence Agency, 2022).

In December 1991, the leaders of Russia, Belarus and Ukraine announced the dissolution of the Soviet Union and the formation of a Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) (U.S. State Department, n.d.). Soon after this announcement, tensions between Moscow and Kiev started to simmer over a range of economic issues, ownership of Crimea and nuclear weapons with concerns these problems could result in an armed conflict (Huntington, 1993). Following the collapse and disintegration of the Soviet Union, Ukraine possessed approximately 1,800 strategic and 4,000 tactical nuclear weapons on its territory effectively making it the world's third largest nuclear power after the United States and Russia (Gomez, 2022). This meant that

Ukraine possessed more nuclear warheads than the U.K., France and China combined at the time (Vaski, 2022). Newly independent states Belarus and Kazakhstan also inherited nuclear weapons and associated delivery systems from the Soviet Union (Pifer, 2011: 4).

Considering the significant role played by nuclear weapons in geostrategic considerations during the cold war, the possession of such weapons by Ukraine, Belarus and Kazakhstan raised major security concerns for Russia and other global powers like the United States (U.S.) and the United Kingdom (U.K.). Despite the almost five decade-long adversarial Cold War dynamics between the Western powers and Moscow, both sides achieved a consensus on the need to remove the nuclear arsenals from ex-Soviet states (Pifer, 2011).

Following a concerted multilateral effort, the U.S., Russia and the U.K managed to convince Ukraine, Belarus and Kazakhstan to ratify the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) and surrender their nuclear weapons to Russia under the Budapest Memorandum on Security Assurances. The memorandum was signed at an Organization for Security & Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) conference in Budapest on 5<sup>th</sup> December 1994 and the signatories were Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and the U.K. (United Nations Security Council, 1994). In return for surrendering the nuclear weapons in its possession, Russia, the U.S. and the U.K. guaranteed that it would respect Ukraine's independence, sovereignty and its existing boarders. In addition, these countries pledged not to apply force or economic coercion against Ukraine. Finally and perhaps most importantly, Russia, the U.S. and the U.K. committed to providing assistance to Ukraine in the event that it was victim to an act of or threat of aggression (United Nations Security Council, 1994).

Russia violated its assurances when it annexed Crimea in 2014 and invaded Ukraine in 2022. Despite many Ukrainians feeling betrayed by their Western allies following the invasion (Elassar, 2022), countries like the U.S. and the U.K. have responded by asserting that they (the

U.S. & the U.K.) did not promise unlimited support and that the Budapest Memorandum contains "assurances" of coming to Ukraine's defence but not "guarantees". In addition, the Memorandum does not provide specific details on exactly how the other signatories would respond in the event Ukraine was attacked, leaving the nature, scope and scale of the response open to interpretation (Pifer, 2019). As a result, Ukraine's Western allies, most of them being NATO members, have opted to provide military aid to help Ukraine's defences rather than get directly involved in the conflict with Russia.

Ukraine's fate has been inextricably tied its Western allies willingness to expand NATO eastward towards Russia's traditional sphere of influence. The decision to admit new Central and Eastern European states into NATO has been a contentious issue even within top policy voices within the alliance's member states. For example, seasoned former security policy officials and scholars in the U.S. have divergent views on the subject of NATO expansion. Former U.S. National Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski (2009) and former U.S. Secretary of State Madeleine Albright (1997) strongly advocated for the expansion of NATO after the fall of the Soviet Union as a means of maintaining and even growing Western military dominance globally. Prominent international relations scholar John Mearsheimer (2022) on the other hand has asserted that Russian aggression against Ukraine and Georgia over the past decade has been a direct result of NATO's enlargement. Mearsheimer argues that Russia's decision to invade Ukraine are in response to Russia's perceived threat of NATO's encroachment on its doorstep, a sentiment shared by several major U.S. politicians including senior senator Bernie Sanders (Cole, 2022).

#### 3.1. Ukraine's NATO Aspirations & Russia's Objections

Ukraine has repeatedly expressed its aspiration to join the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO). "In June 2017, the Ukrainian Parliament adopted legislation reinstating membership in NATO as a strategic foreign and security policy objective. In 2019, a corresponding amendment to Ukraine's Constitution entered into force" (NATO, 2022). However, Russian President Vladimir Putin has described the prospect of Ukraine joining NATO as a major threat to Russia's security and interests. In addition, President Putin has repeatedly expressed his regret about Russia's "loss" of Ukraine and other countries due to the collapse of the Soviet Union (Bilefsky et al, 2022).

According to President Putin, Western powers reneged on their promise to Russia not to expand NATO eastward towards Russia's sphere of influence. This promise refers to the statement made by former U.S. Secretary of State James Baker III to the last leader of the Soviet Union, Mikhail Gorbachev during negotiations between the U.S. and the Soviet Union in the build-up to the collapse and dissolution of the latter. Baker's words to Gorbachov were "there would be no extension of NATO's jurisdiction for forces of NATO one inch to the east" (Baker, 2022). While the weight and implications of Baker's statement has become a contentious issue in recent Western-Russian relations, several senior U.S. officials including former National Security Advisor and Secretary of State Condoleezza Rice have claimed that upon realizing the likelihood of his statement being misinterpreted, Baker sought to backtrack on his remarks (Baker, 2022).

Since 1999, 14 Central and Eastern European countries have joined the NATO alliance. In 1999, the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland became members of NATO with Albania and Croatia joining in 2009. Montenegro and North Macedonia also become NATO members in 2017 and 2020 respectively. As of April 2022, NATO has 30 member states (NATO, 2022). Following the large scale destruction of World War II, NATO was created in 1949 as a defence

alliance between Belgium, Canada, Denmark, France, Iceland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, the United Kingdom and the United States (NATO, 2022).

According to NATO, the organisation maintains and open-door policy based on Article 10 of its founding treaty. According to Article 10, "The Parties (NATO members) may, by unanimous agreement, invite any other European State in a position to further the principles of this Treaty and to contribute to the security of the North Atlantic area to accede to this Treaty" (NATO, 2019). Countries that wish to join NATO must participate in a Membership Action Plan (MAP) which consists of programmes for individual aspiring countries' preparation to obtain NATO membership. The MAP covers political, economic, defence, resource, security and legal requirements of becoming and remaining a NATO member (NATO, 2022).

In 2008, after a series of democratic reforms, Ukraine together with Georgia applied for a Membership Action Plan (MAP) to join to NATO and the initial response from the allies appeared to be promising. At a summit in Bucharest that same year, NATO allies announced that they welcomed both Ukraine and Georgia's application and supported both their aspirations to join the alliance (NATO, 2008). However, cracks began to emerge in existing NATO members' views on the fate of Georgia and Ukraine. Despite strong support from the U.S., other NATO states like Germany and France were reluctant to welcome Ukraine and Georgia into their fold over concerns of antagonizing Russia. Instead of making a clear decision on Ukraine and Georgia's application, NATO rather opted to make a vague pledge to admit both countries into the alliance in the future, while conspicuously omitting a specific timeline (Brunnstrom and Cornwell, 2008). In spite of NATO's repeated declarations that Russia had no influence on its membership, the alliance's ambiguous response to its hopeful members indicated the exact opposite.

To the disappointment of many Ukrainians, NATO decided not to intervene directly following Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 for fear of escalating the conflict further. Despite pleas from Ukrainian President Volodymyr Zelenskyy (Lewis and Melander, 2022) to establish a no-fly zone over Ukraine to nullify Russia's air power, NATO leaders declined over fears that any direct involvement in the conflict would lead to World War III (Wingrove, 2022). Instead, NATO has chosen a combination of enhancing its regional presence and capabilities in Eastern Europe as well as providing military aid packages to Ukraine. NATO's allies have delivered an assortment of defensive and offensive weapons to Ukraine including inter alia at least 17,000 antitank weapons, 2,000 stinger anti-aircraft missiles (Sanger et al., 2022). In addition, NATO has positioned an Enhanced Forward Presence (EFP) of four battle groups in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Poland (U.S. Congressional Research Service, 2022).

Despite Ukraine's explicitly expressed desires to become a NATO member, and the alliance's vague assurances that membership will be granted in the future, concerns over Russia's disapproval are likely to remain an impediment to this plan. Russia's invasion of Georgia in 2008, annexation of Crimea in 2014, and invasion of Ukraine in 2022 shall doubtlessly factor into NATO's risk calculus of having members on Russia's doorstep. Considering NATO's Article 5 on collective defence which obliges all member countries to come to the defence a member country under attack, the prospects of being drawn into a conflict with a nuclear Russia shall remain a very undesirable scenario for the current NATO members.

#### 3.2. Ukraine's Dilemma: East or West?

Although Ukraine initially showed much promise of becoming a model and stable liberal democratic country emerging out from the shadow of the USSR, the subsequent three decades proved to be politically and economically turbulent for the country. Ukraine was the first Post-

Soviet country to experience a peaceful transfer of power through election in 1994 with Leonid Kuchma replacing Leonid Kravchuk as president (Burke, 2014). In 1996, Ukraine adopted a new constitution that signalled the promise of political, economic and social reforms. The country's leadership however struggled to implement these reforms and the ensuing economic stagnation of the late 1990's and early 2000's would sow the seeds of disaffection towards the government among many Ukrainians.

Over the last decade and a half, the inclination of Ukraine's political leadership has swung from the West, to Russia and back to the West again. Two mass protests against pro-Russian policies and interests, one in 2004 and the other in 2014, saw the removal of Victor Yanukovych as President of the country on both occasions (Gulf News, 2016). Dubbed the Orange Revolution and the Revolution of Dignity respectively, both protests clearly highlighted how Ukraine was caught in a dilemma of its geopolitical orientation, with the West on one hand and Russia on the other.

The Orange Revolution erupted in late 2004 with mass protests against the election of Kremlin-backed Victor Yanukovych who was accused of winning the Ukrainian presidential polls through electoral fraud and voter intimidation (Dickinson, 2020). The Orange Revolution involved a combination of general strikes, civil disobedience and sit-ins by millions of Ukrainians which succeeded in ousting Yanukovych and the election of Victor Yushchenko as the President of Ukraine (Karatnycky, 2005). Despite suffering this setback, Yanukovych remained a major figure in Ukrainian politics and would stage a comeback after Yushchenko's term. Yanukovych ran for president of Ukraine again in 2010 and won, although the results of the polls were heavily contested and were even appealed by Yanukovych's main rival and then prime minister of Ukraine, Yulia Tymoshenko (Gabbatt, 2010).

Ultimately, the choice of whether or not Ukraine would seek to deepen its ties with the European Union (E.U.) through a political association and free trade agreement, would play a decisive role in the political fate of President Victor Yanukovych. Officially known as the European Union Association Agreement, the deal was bilateral arrangement between the E.U. and Ukraine to improve political and economic relations by both parties through the establishment of a free trade area (de Deugd, 2012). The Association Agreement with the E.U. had been mostly negotiated before Yanukovych's term. However, Yanukovych sought to undermine the work done by his predecessor in his quest to draw Ukraine away from the E.U. and closer to Russia. In a surprise move to many involved in the Association Agreement negotiation, Yanukovych suddenly ordered the suspension of preparations to enter the pact in November 2013 (Traynor, 2013).

President Yanukovych's decision to abort plans for Ukraine to enter the Association Agreement with the E.U. was largely due to pressure from Russia (Pifer, 2013). The announcement to terminate preparations with Brussels came just weeks after Yanukovych had a meeting with Russian President Vladimir Putin in St. Petersburg. According to Mykola Azarov who was the Prime Minister of Ukraine at the time and party to the meetings in St. Petersburg between Presidents Yanukovych and Putin, the Russian government made it clear that Ukraine's ratification of the Association Agreement with the E.U. would make it impossible to continue trade and economic relations with Russia (Grytsenko, 2013). Considering that Russia bought about USD 7 billion of Ukrainian exports at the time, the prospects of a Russian retaliation to the deal with the EU would have been economically problematic for Ukraine, especially in the short to medium term. These economic considerations notwithstanding, President Yanukovych's decision to cancel the E.U. ultimately contributed to his political downfall.

Although Yanukovych's second stint as President would last much longer than the first time round, he would eventually be ousted again before the end of his term by protests in 2014 bearing a stark resemblance with the Orange Revolution a decade earlier. The Revolution of Dignity, sometimes referred to as the Maidan Revolution, started in February 2014 when thousands of Ukrainians took to the streets to protests against the Yanukovych government. The protestors' grievances included the government's management of the economy, widespread corruption, abuse of power and President Yanukovych's gravitation towards pro-Russia policies (Novakova, 2017). After several days of intense protests and rioting, President Yanukovych was forced to flee Ukraine and was subsequently impeached by the country's parliament (Walker, 2014).

Subsequent Ukrainian Presidents Petro Poroshenko and Volodymr Zelenskyy have sought to deepen Ukraine's ties with the rest of Europe, much to the Kremlin's irritation. President Proshenko who was President of Ukraine from June 2014 to May 2019 expressed the country's aspirations to become an E.U. member state (Stern, 2017). President Zelenksyy who took office in 2019 also echoed similar sentiments. President Zelenskyy even submitted an application for Ukraine to join the E.U. on 28th February 2022, just four days after Russia launched a full-scale invasion of his country (Reland, 2022). Ukraine's gradual pivot towards the European Union and the wider West following Victor Yanukovych's ouster has happened amidst growing Russian objections. Moscow's objections would however grow into the naked aggression which eventually culminated in the February 2022 invasion of Ukraine.

### 3.3. 2014 Annexation of Crimea

Russia's invasion of Ukraine on 24<sup>th</sup> February 2022 was not the first time the former had invaded another country for its ambitions to obtain NATO membership. Similar to Ukraine, in

2008, Georgia fell victim to Russian aggression following inter alia Georgia's attempt to forge alliances with Russia's Western adversaries (Dodman, 2022). Almost a decade and a half later, Ukraine would fall victim to much of the same strategies and tactics Russia employed in Georgia.

Before annexing Crimea, Russia demonstrated its willingness to counter what it perceived as the threat of the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation's (NATO) eastward expansion by engaging in a brutal albeit short conflict with Georgia in 2008 (Kenez, 2016). Following the 2003 Rose Revolution which swept Mikheil Saakashvili to power in Georgia, Russia grew increasingly concerned about Saakashvili's simultaneous pro-Western and anti-Russian stance. This situation was further exacerbated by NATO's seeming willingness to admit Georgia and Ukraine into the alliance while dismissing Russia's security concerns (Brunnstrom and Cornwell, 2008). Similar to Russia's pretext of protecting ethnic Russians used for invading Crimea, Russian President Vladimir Putin claimed Russia's excursion into Georgia was at the behest of Russian separatists in Abkhazia and South Ossetia regions seeking independence from Georgia (Gedmin, 2014). The invasion of Georgia would become a precursor for Russia's actions in Crimea six years later.

Following the removal of the pro-Russian Viktor Yanukovich as President of Ukraine in February 2014 following months of violent protests across the country, Moscow took advantage of the turmoil in Ukraine to annex the Crimea (Magen et al, 2014). Ignoring widespread international condemnation, Russian Special Forces units without any insignia rapidly moved into the Crimea region of Ukraine and quickly started establishing control over the area (Treisman, 2016). After initially denying its involvement in the annexation of Crimea, the official rhetoric and tone from the Kremlin gradually changed over time. Within a few weeks, Russian officials began to claim that the seizure of Crimea was initiated in order to

defend the region's ethnic Russian population from Ukrainian nationalists and fascist groups seeking to oppress them (Dickinson, 2018).

In a manner reminiscent to Russia's 2008 attack on Georgia, the 2014 annexation of Crimea involved a combination of disinformation operations on social media and cyber-attacks against government and commercial infrastructure (Weedon, 2015). Russia's strategy in both 2008 and 2014 included targeting Ukrainian critical infrastructure with large scale cyber-attacks. During the operation to annex Crimea, Russian hackers targeted "Ukraine's power grid, disabling control systems used to coordinate remote electrical substations, and leaving many people in the capital and western part of the country without power for several hours" (Kostyuk and Zhukov, 2017). In addition, Russian-backed groups carried multiple disinformation and information campaigns regarding the annexation of Crimea, often portraying the annexation as an act to protect the ethnic Russians in the region (U.S. State Department, 2022). Russia's repeated and continuous use of disinformation and cyber-attacks would eventually come to form the basis of its hybrid warfare strategy in the 2022 war in Ukraine (Tidy, 2022).

Between 2014 and 2021, approximately 14,000 people have been killed as a result of the conflict that followed Russia's annexation of Crimea (Mellen, 2022). The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) officially a total of 3,393 conflict-related civilian deaths between 14<sup>th</sup> April 2014 and 30<sup>th</sup> September 2021 (United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, 2021). According to the OHCHR, most of the civilian deaths occurred in territory controlled by rebel forces. This death toll includes the 298 passengers and crew on board the Malaysian Airlines flight MH17 which was shot down on 17<sup>th</sup> July 2014 in Donetsk region of Ukraine near Crimea (Corder, 2022). As of December 2021, three Russians, Igor Girkin, Sergey Dubinskiy and Igor Pulatov and a Ukrainian, Leonid Kharchenko are on trial in the Netherlands for shooting down flight MH17 (Voice of America, 2021).

Both Russia's National Security Strategy (NSS) documents in 2009 (Office of the President of the Russian Federation, 2020) and 2021 (Guler and Shakirova, 2021) clearly articulate the Russian government's objection to NATO's expansion and increased role in international security matters. In addition, the Russia's latter NSS document asserts that NATO's attempt to endow itself with a global security function and place its military infrastructure close to Russia's borders are not only unacceptable to Russia but also contradict the norms of international law. The sentiments expressed in the Russian NSS about NATO have been consistent with Russian President Vladimir Putin's remarks about the alliance over the past decade (Ignatius, 2022). In several remarks on various occasions, President Putin had stated that there would be grave consequences of any further NATO expansion, especially into Eastern Europe. President Putin's warnings gradually evolved into more tangible threats over time.

#### 3.4. Build-up to the February 2022 Invasion

In December 2021, Ukrainian and U.S. government officials announced that Russia had amassed approximately 175,000 troops along the Russia-Ukraine border (Harris and Sonne, 2021). According to both Kyiv and Washington, Russian President Putin was preparing to order Russian military forces to invade Ukraine (Mirovalev, 2021). In January 2022, Russia sent an additional 30,000 troops to Belarus. Based on the U.S. intelligence assessments, the large number of Russian troops, artillery and armoured vehicles stationed along the Ukrainian border with both Russia and Belarus were an indication of an imminent invasion of Ukraine (Harris and Sonne, 2021).

Initially, both Moscow and Minsk's dismissed Western concerns about the threat of invasion to Ukraine by repeatedly insisting that Russia and Belarus were merely engaged in a joint

military exercise (Gramer and Mackinnon, 2022). However, the evidence provided by the U.S. intelligence and defence officials were inconsistent with the Russian and Belarusian governments' claims. For instance, according to two senior U.S. Defense officials, there was evidence that the amassed Russian forces had stockpiled blood and other medical suppliers as well as fuel (Bertrand et al, 2022). Such stockpiling is inconsistent with a military exercise, but rather an indication that the Russian forces were getting ready for a major military operation. While referring to the Russian military build-up along the Ukrainian border, Mike Quigley, a member of the U.S. House of Representatives Intelligence Committee, said he believes Russia is positioned to invade Ukraine when wanted and given Russian military capabilities, the invasion "would be equivalent to a modern-day blitzkrieg" (Sciutto and Bertrand, 2021).

Amidst Russia's build-up of its military forces along Ukraine's eastern and northern borders, Moscow continued to send contradicting signals regarding Russian intentions. While several senior Russian government and military officials initially denied any plans of invading Ukraine, President Putin continued to warn NATO that there would be significant consequences if the alliance admitted Ukraine as a member (Mirovalev, 2022). In a speech to top Russian military commanders in December 2021, President Putin declared that there would be a strong response from Russia if NATO failed to present Russia with security guarantees of not admitting Ukraine as a member of the alliance (Roth, 2021). The mixed messages from the Russian government would continue up until the invasion. On 15<sup>th</sup> February, 9 days before Russia's military forces invaded Ukraine, the Russian Ministry of Defence announced that it was pulling back the troops amassed on the Ukrainian border (Taylor and Macias, 2022). A week and a half later, these claims would prove to be false.

From the announcement of the Russian military build-up along its border in December 2021 to the invasion in February 2022, the Ukrainian government's response was that of cautious ambivalence. While calling for calm in a seeming attempt to play down the risk of the invasion,

the Ukrainian government aggressively sought to secure military aid to shore up its defences. Whether due to an attempt to avoid panic or born out of a genuine hope that the chance of invasion was lower than stated, Ukrainian President Volodymyr Zelenskyy asked his citizens to "take a breath" and "calm down" (Bostock, 2022). In video messages posted on an official government websites and social media channels, President Zelenskyy asked Ukrainians not to give in to panic and fear and reminded them that Ukraine had been living under the shadow of Russian aggression since the latter's annexation of Crimea in 2014. Consistent with his other statements prior to the invasion, President Zelenskyy had repeatedly stated that he was not convinced that the Russia's invasion of his country was imminent (Bostock, 2022).

Despite his repeated calls for calm, President Zelenskyy together with other Ukrainian government officials continued to request for military assistance and lethal aid from allied countries (Brewster, 2022). Before Russia's invasion, the U.S. alone supplied Ukraine with USD 200 million of weapons and other forms of military aid. Other NATO members like the U.K, Canada, Poland and the Czech Republic also supplied military hardware to bolster Ukraine's defences in the event of a Russian invasion (Forrest, 2022). In addition to building up its defences against kinetic Russian capabilities, Ukraine also made efforts to improve the cyber security of its critical infrastructure against potential cyber-attacks (Financial Times, 2022).

After the leaders of NATO countries like the U.S., U.K., and France ruled out the possibility of the alliance intervening directly in the event of a Russian invasion of Ukraine, it became apparent to the government in Kyiv that Ukraine's military forces would have to defend the country without any direct foreign support. After Russia invaded Ukraine on 24<sup>th</sup> February 2022, President Zelenskyy was very critical of Western countries for failing to defend Ukraine from Russia's aggression. In a broadcast addressed Zelenskyy said "we (Ukraine) are left alone

in defense of our state. Who is ready to fight with us? Honestly — I do not see such. Who is ready to guarantee Ukraine's accession to NATO? Honestly, everyone is afraid" (Baker, 2022). The tone of the response by Western governments, the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO) and other international organisations like the United Nations (UN) to Russia's troop amassment gradually grew in intensity and severity in the lead up to Russia's invasion of Ukraine. Weeks before Russian invaded Ukraine, the U.S. and other major Western countries threatened unprecedented sanctions against Russia if it decided to invade Ukraine. In a statement by U.S. Vice President Kamala Harris, she said "Let me be clear, I can say with absolute certainty: If Russia further invades Ukraine, the United States, together with our allies and partners, will impose significant, and unprecedented economic costs" (The Associated Press, 2022). In anticipation of this outcome, the Russian government had gradually been restructuring its economy over the past several years in preparation to mitigate the impact of such Western sanctions (Fisher, 2022). In addition to drastically reducing its reliance on the U.S. dollar in favour of the Chinese Renminbi, stockpiling currency reserves and finding alternative to many Western imports (Morris, 2022), Russia has also started supplying more its oil and gas to major Eastern markets like China and India as alternatives to its traditional European customers (Aizhu, 2022).

# 3.5. The February 2022 Invasion & Its Aftermath

On 24<sup>th</sup> February 2022, Russian military forces commenced an invasion of Ukraine by attacking from multiple fronts. In a speech given that morning, Russian President Vladimir Putin announced his decision to order to invade Ukraine in what he called a "Special Military Operation" with the objective to protect people in Ukraine who are being suppressed by the Ukrainian government (Lister and John, 2022). According to President Putin, the goal of the operation was "to protect people who have been subjected to abuse, genocide by the Kyiv regime for eight years, and for this we (Russia) will strive to demilitarize... as well as bring to

justice those who committed numerous bloody crimes against peaceful residents, including citizens of the Russian Federation" (Simmons, 2022). Soon after the announcement, Russian military forces began attacking several parts of Ukraine.

## **Casualties & Displacements**

Large scale conflicts typically result in major casualties and the displacement of large sections of the affected population. Unfortunately, the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict is not an exception to this phenomenon. As of 22<sup>nd</sup> April 2022, 57 days into the conflict, the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) had recorded 5,381 civilian casualties in Ukraine consisting of 2,435 deaths and 2,946 injuries (United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, 2022). However, civilian casualty estimates from the Ukrainian government around the same time were significantly higher than the numbers reported by the OHCHR. For instance, the Mayor of Mariupol, a Ukrainian city, estimated that about 21,000 civilians in the city alone had be killed as of 11<sup>th</sup> April 2022 (Child et al., 2022). Similar estimates have been made by local government officials in other parts of Ukraine affected by the conflict.

Due to the fluid and fast evolving nature of the war, it is extremely difficult to obtain precise numbers of casualties and refugees at any point in time. International observers have faced challenges in getting accurate statistics about the impact of the conflict and have had to rely largely on estimates which vary significantly in most instances depending on the source (Khurshudyan and Witte, 2022). In addition, conflicting parties in major wars often have vested interests in either dramatically exaggerating or under-estimating the actual impact of the conflict, especially in terms of casualties and refugees (Andreas and Greenhill, 2008). Both Ukraine and Russia have repeatedly accused each other of falsifying the civilian casualties and refugee numbers as well as the troop casualties on either side (Meyer, 2022). Higher Ukrainian

civilian casualties, lower Ukrainian military casualties and higher Russian military casualties are likely to support Ukraine's self-portrayal as a victim of Russian aggression that has managed to put up a strong defence. On the other hand, lower Ukrainian civilian casualties and lower Russian military casualties will create an image of a well-planned and executed Russian offensive that is cognisant of Ukrainian civilian safety.

As of 8<sup>th</sup> May 2022, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) reported that 5,890,875 Ukrainians had fled Ukraine to other countries (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2022). According to the UNHCR, the bulk of the Ukrainian refugees had moved to Poland, Romania, Russia, Hungary, Moldova, Slovakia & Belarus. In addition, a survey conducted by the International Organisation for Migration (IOM) (2022) between 24<sup>th</sup> March and 1<sup>st</sup> April 2022 indicate that over 7.1 million people have been internally displaced in Ukraine as a result of the conflict. The majority of the displaced persons had to flee from their homes to other relatively safer parts of Ukraine due to the fighting. Despite the fact that the war is still raging in several parts of Ukraine, in mid-April 2022 the United Nations Aid Coordination Office estimates that about 30,000 Ukrainians that had fled the country earlier were returning to Ukraine daily (United Nations, 2022). Also, since the conflict has been largely confined to the east and south parts of Ukraine, many Ukrainians from those regions of the country have opted to move to the west and north for safety.

## **International Response**

While many countries around the world condemned Russia's invasion of Ukraine, the response from some sections of the international community was more varied and nuanced. Inferring from a United Nations (UN) General Assembly vote on a resolution demanding a cessation of the Russian offensive in Ukraine held on 2<sup>nd</sup> March 2022, 141 countries voted in favour of the

resolution. However, 35 countries abstained from the vote altogether while 5 countries voted against it (United Nations, 2022). The support of majority of UN member countries notwithstanding, the 40 countries unwilling to openly condemn Russia and demand an end to the invasion of Ukraine indicate the complex geostrategic interests at play regarding the conflict in Ukraine.

Much of Europe, North and South American nations voted in support of the resolution. Russia together with its allies Eritrea, North Korea, Syria and Belarus voted against the resolution. Nuclear powers China, India and Pakistan together with 32 other countries mostly in Africa, the Middle East and Asia opted to abstain the vote largely for geostrategic, military and energy security reasons (Gardner, 2022). For instance, China and Russia have entered announced their strategic alliance just weeks before the latter's invasion of Ukraine. President Putin of Russia and President Xi of China described the alliance between their countries in a joint statement saying "Friendship between the two States has no limits, there are no 'forbidden' areas of cooperation" (Munroe et al., 2022). On the other hand, India together with several South-Asian and African countries that abstained from the UN General Assembly resolution vote are heavily dependent on Russian weapons supplies (Adeoye, 2022).

#### Sanctions against Russia & Aid to Ukraine

Beyond the other countries' official position on the conflict, there is also the more complex issue of how they should respond. Western countries like the U.S., U.K., Canada and the European Union (EU) were quick to apply an unprecedented range of sanctions against Russia following its invasion of Ukraine. These sanctions against Russia's economy, military, manufacturing, financial and technology sectors as well as individuals were designed to disrupt Russia's economy and cut Moscow off from major global financial institutions (Funakoshi et

al., 2022). However, the heavy reliance of many European countries on Russian oil and gas not only seeks to undermine the efficacy of these sanctions but leaves these countries open to retaliatory actions from Moscow. Russia has sought to mitigate the effects of the sanctions by demanding payments for its energy supply in Russian Roubles, in an attempt to shore up the Rouble after its sharp decline following the initial announcement of the Western sanctions. In late April 2022, Russia halted energy exports to Poland and Bulgaria for their refusal to pay the Russian energy company Gazprom in Roubles (Race, 2022).

Many countries have also provided various types of aid to Ukraine following Russia's invasion. Ukraine's Western allies like the U.S., U.K., France, Netherlands, Germany, Canada and other EU members have supplied Ukraine with several billion U.S. dollars (USD) worth of offensive and defensive weapons as well as financial support through loans and humanitarian aid like food and medicine (Al Jazeera, 2022d). In some cases however, decision by certain countries to send military aid to Ukraine required grappling with complicated foreign policy considerations. For example, Germany had to reverse its long-standing policy not to send weapons to conflict zones, a policy born out of the country's attempt to avoid repeating its role in World War II (Herszenhorn et al., 2022). Israel on the other hand has opted to only send humanitarian aid instead of weapons to Ukraine over concerns of provoking Moscow, given Russia's significant military presence in Syria since 2015 (Daoud, 2022).

## Adverse Economic Impact & Destruction of Infrastructure in Ukraine

The fighting in Ukraine has adversely affected the country's economy and caused significant damage to infrastructure. While the exact loss of economic activity and estimated cost of the damage varies and is constantly evolving as the conflict rages on, the consensus among major international organisations is that the impact has been substantial. In mid-March 2022, the

International Monetary Fund (IMF) estimated that the Ukrainian economy would contract by 35% in 2022. On 10<sup>th</sup> April 2022, less than a month later, the World Bank announced that it expected the Ukrainian economy to shrink by 45% in 2022 largely due to the conflict (The World Bank, 2022). In mid-March, the UN calculated that the conflict in Ukraine had destroyed or damaged over USD 100 billion U.S worth of infrastructure and that number was certainly going to rise as with continued fighting (United Nations, 2022). Considering Ukraine's Gross Domestic Product (GDP) for 2020 was USD 155 billion, this estimated cost of the damage by by the U.N. alone represents almost two-thirds of the country's productivity.

## Global Ramification of the Conflict in Ukraine

With the global economy slowly beginning to emerge from the adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, Russia's invasion of Ukraine has compounded the existing economic problems facing many countries around the world. Given that Russia and Ukraine together produce significant amounts of the global supply of natural resources like oil, natural gas, wheat, barley, nickel, palladium as well as fertilizers and a host of other products, the conflict between both countries has simultaneously caused disruptions in the supply of these products and dramatic price increases (Domm, 2022). The global markets began to feel the impact soon after Russia started amassing its forces on Ukraine's borders and the threat of invasion grew more and more likely (Strohecker, 2022). Following Russia's invasion of Ukraine in late February 2022 and the ensuing Western sanctions against the former, coupled with the economic disruption of the latter, the global markets were not spared the shocks (Benton et al., 2022).

# Strategic Blowback for Russia

Russia's decision to invade Ukraine has resulted in major unintended adverse political and security consequences for Russia's stated interests and security concerns. Not only did the invasion appear to face unexpected stiff opposition from Ukraine leading doubts about Russia's military capabilities, but other countries geographically close to Russia have expressed their wish to become NATO members to Moscow's dismay (BBC, 2022).

Before and even during the early stages the invasion, many military analysts around the world including several U.S. officials predicted that Russia's superior military would easily overrun Ukrainian defences (Dewan, 2022). However, the reality of the ensuing conflict has diverged significantly from this prediction. Possessing one of the most powerful armed forces in the world, Russia spent an estimated USD 65.9 billion on defence in 2021 according to the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI) (2022). Ukraine on the other hand only had a defence budget in 2021 of only USD 5.9 billion, less than 9% of Russia's defence spending for that same year. In addition to having a larger and better equipped military compared to Ukraine (BBC, 2022) (Dewan, 2022), many Russian troops had been battle-hardened from Russia's involvement in the war in Syria. These reasons doubtlessly contributed to the predictions that Ukraine would be unable to put up a meaningful defence to a Russian invasion.

All Russia's perceived military advantages notwithstanding, Russian troops have sustained heavy losses in Ukraine with less than proportionate gains to show for it. According to U.S. intelligence estimates from late March 2022, about 20% of Russian troops sent into Ukraine have been killed, wounded or captured. NATO's estimates around the same period suggest that up to about 15,000 Russian soldiers may have been killed by Ukrainian forces, several senior Russian officers among them (Seldin, 2022). Lethal aid packages to Ukraine from its allies like the U.S., UK, France and Germany have bolstered defences against Russian forces and kept them from taking or holding much Ukrainian territory (Cohen, 2022).

Following the invasion of Ukraine, Scandinavian countries like Sweden and Finland that have traditionally been neutral to Russia's long-standing competition with the West have expressed their interest in becoming members of NATO (Stubb, 2022). Considering one of the major reasons for the invasion according to the Russia government was the risk of Ukraine's membership of NATO to Russian interests, the prospects of having two other countries in close proximity joining the alliance must be of grave concern to Moscow (Kirby, 2022).

## 4. Research Design & Methodology

This study examines the framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict by the web-based news media in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China through an exploratory sequential mixed method approach of content analysis performed on the news article headlines from selected websites from each country. This chapter provides an overview of the research design, data collection and analysis processes as well as explains the rationale underpinning the selection of the specific choices in each of these aspects of the research.

## 4.1. Research Design

The overarching research design strategy for this project is the exploratory sequential mixed method content analysis approach with the aim of identifying media frames present in the sampled online news data in an objective and quantifiable manner. Often referred to as the 'third methodological orientation' (Teddlie and Tashakkori, 2008), the mixed method draws on aspects of both qualitative and quantitative research techniques (Berman, 2017). According to Creswell et al (2011), the mixed method involves collecting and integrating both qualitative and quantitative strands of data pertaining to the research question and analysing both strands either sequentially or concurrently. The analysis in this project was done sequentially, by first examining the qualitative characteristics of the online media report data, then evaluating the quantitative aspects.

In more specific terms, this project employs the computer-assisted approach to content analysis using Artificial Intelligence-based Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction software models for identifying the frames within the online news articles followed by a statistical analysis of the data. The statistical analysis in the latter stage was largely based on frequency analysis. As demonstrated by Matthes and Kohring (2008), much of the content analysis techniques used by researchers for identifying and assessing media frames are often arbitrary and fraught with subjectivity. In order to reduce the degree of subjectivity, the research design

of this project relied on AI-based software models to objectively identify the elements that constitute the media framing of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. These elements being the emphasis, volume, sentiments expressed as well as the phrasing and terminology of the online media coverage of the war.

#### **Focus on News Story Headline**

This research project's emphasis on online news article headlines as opposed to the entire articles is based on the disproportionately critical role the headline plays as a framing device for the news story. According to Pan & Kosicki (1993), "a headline is the most salient cue to activate certain semantically related concept in readers' minds; it is thus the most powerful framing device of the syntactical structure", making the headline the most important component of a given framing device. According to research by Allport and Lepkin (1943) in the 1940's, the "headlines are the part of newspapers which is most universally read; frequently, they are the only part which the busy reader sees." This observation from the pre-internet era is just as relevant in contemporary online context. A 2016 study by Gabielkov et al (2016) found that 6 out of 10 people even share news stories on social media platforms after only reading the headlines. This phenomenon is a contributing factor to the propagation of online-based disinformation and misinformation (Sparks, 2020). In addition, a news article's headline does not only serve as a means of attracting readers to the story, but it can serve as a key influencing factor in how the readers interpret the story in question. As a result, news headline writers often seek to create a specific effect of a particular story among their audience

by the way that story's headline is framed (Tannenbaum, 1953). It is due to these reasons that this study focused on the online news headlines as opposed to the full news articles.

## **Sentiment Analysis & Topic Extraction:**

Sentiment analysis, also referred to as opinion mining, is a field of study for analysing opinions expressed in a text using a lexicon-based algorithmic model (Alam and Yao, 2018). The sentiment analysis computations on the news article headlines analysed in this project was conducted by using the MeaningCloud sentiment analysis software. This sentiment analysis software detected the polarity contained in each news article's heading (MeaningCloud, n.d.). The polarity output of the software for a given text, in this case a news article headline, is classified into six results: positive (P) and negative (N), very positive (P+) and very negative (N+), neutral (NEU) and none (NONE). The polarity of the text is determined through what MeaningCloud describes as 'Advanced Natural Language Processing' that evaluates all aspects of the text including the morphology, syntax and semantics (MeaningCloud, 2015). For the purposes of this study, some of the sentiment polarity output were combined to facilitate analytical expediency. Specifically, *Very Positive (P+)* was combined with the *Positive (P)*, while *Very Negative (N+)* was combined with *Negative (N)*. Finally, *None (NONE)* was combined with *Neutral (NEU)*.

To practically demonstrate each sentiment polarity's rating, a news story with the headline with a positive polarity according to the MeaningCloud Sentiment Analysis algorithm is "G7 countries have announced more than \$ 24 billion in aid to Ukraine". The headline "Lt. Col. Oleksiy Bashev (Beck) killed in battle against Russian occupiers" would be classified as having negative polarity. "Howitzers, drones and field equipment: Pentagon told what assistance will be sent to Ukraine" has neutral polarity while "Regional Military Administration: janitor"

appointed "deputy mayor" in occupied Berdiansk" is categorized as having no polarity by MeaningCloud's Sentiment Analysis software.

Topic extraction is the process of using software to automatically identifying the underlying elements and concepts contained in a document or text corpus (Jiang et al., 2018). This is done by using Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning based linguistic and thematic models to identify the composite topics within the given text. The identified individual topics are further classified into either entities or concepts based on the model's pre-configuration and the nature of each identified topic. For example, the result of a topic extraction output for the news article headline "Britain will provide additional military aid to Ukraine - Johnson" would be the entities "Ukraine", "Britain" and "Johnson" as well as the concept "military aid". Such an automated identification process for the news headline topics help to minimize the arbitrary tendencies that often plague many media frame identification research projects as previously highlighted by manual and hermeneutic approaches to Content Analysis.

#### 4.2. Data Selection Process

In order to ensure that this study was able to answer the research question, the data selection process took into account deciding which news websites from the countries of interest would be sampled as well as the time frame to which the sampled news articles would be limited to.

## **Online News Sources**

The criteria for selecting which news websites to collect articles relating to the 2022 Russian-Ukraine conflict was based on three main criteria. Firstly, the news website had to have the majority of its audience traffic coming from one of the countries of interest. This was verified by checking website analytics reporting companies like Alexa Analytics and SimilarWeb. Secondly, the news website had to have news stories relating to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war

which were either searchable using the relevant keywords or had a dedicated section of the website for the war as was evident in many Ukrainian news websites. Lastly, the website had to technically and legally permit the download of its content for academic research purposes, or at least not explicitly prohibit the latter. Based on these criteria, three news websites were selected each from Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China. The limit to three website per country was due to practical reasons associated with the quantity of data, cost of data extraction and time involved in processing and analysing the data.

#### Time Frame

The choice to restrict the timeframe of online news articles relating to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war from 1<sup>st</sup> December 2021 to 30<sup>th</sup> April 2022 was informed largely by practical considerations concerning this research project's submission deadline. The earliest warnings that Russia was planning to invade Ukraine started appearing on major international news websites like the BBC (2021), the Washington Post (Harris and Sonne, 2021), Al-Jazeera (Varshalomidze and Child, 2021) and the Associated Press (Madhani et al., 2021) in the first week of December 2021. While the full-scale conflict commenced after Russia invaded Ukraine on 24<sup>th</sup> February 2022, there was significant news media interest in the build-up to the invasion from early December 2021. Although the war in Ukraine was still raging at the end of April 2022, with no clear indication of when it would cease, the end point for the news articles' publication date was set to 30<sup>th</sup> April 2022 to ensure ample time to process and analyse the research data before this research project's submission deadline.

#### 4.3. Data Collection

The data collection process involved using the OctoParse web content extraction software to download the metadata on the selected news websites. The metadata collected included the

headline of the news article, publication data, source Uniform Resource Locator (URL), the publishing website's primary domain name and the language the article was originally published in. The data collection sequence was as follows:

- i. Search for articles on the website related to the 2022 war in Ukraine by sequentially entering terms such as "War + Ukraine" or "Russia invasion + Ukraine" into the website's search bar and proceeding to the results page. Some news websites however, had sections dedicated to the 2022 war in Ukraine which displayed all news articles related to the war, effectively making it easier to find the relevant news articles.
- ii. The search results were then filtered by publication date to ensure the news articles were between the desired time period, i.e. from  $1^{st}$  December  $2021 30^{th}$  April 2022.
- iii. The web address of the final search results page was then parsed to the OctoParse software for the metadata extraction.
- iv. The metadata of news articles extracted from non-English language websites were then translated into English using the Google Translate software. The news source languages that required translation into English were *Ukrainian*, *Russian* and *Mandarin (Chinese)*.
- v. All the news article headlines were run through the MeaningCloud Sentiment
  Analysis software to identify the polarity of the words the terms and phrases that
  constitute each news article title. Subsequently, the MeaningCloud Topic
  Extraction software identified the individual entities and concepts within each news
  article's title.

# **Overview of Sampled Data**

A statistical overview of the data collection results can be seen in Table 1.1 below;

Countries	Article Count	Percentage
Ukraine	5,861	24.00
Russia	12,009	49.17
USA	5,762	23.59
China	790	3.23
Total	24,422	100

Table 1.1: Number of online news articles per country

The sampled news articles about the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict consisted of 24,422 stories obtained from 12 news websites from Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China. 24.00% of the stories were published by Ukrainian news websites while 49.17% were posted on Russian News websites. 23.59% were from American news websites and only 3.23% from Chinese news websites. The stories were published between 1st December 2021 and 30th April 2022. While 38.29% of the news articles were originally published in English, 10.17%, 49.40% & 2.15% were originally published in Ukrainian, Russian and Mandarin respectively and needed to be translated into English using the Google Translate language translation software.

# 4.4. Data Analysis

The analysis of the collected web-based news metadata for this study was conducted in four main phases, each examining an indicator of frame alignment processes as stated by Snow et al (1986). The selected indicators were emphasis on specific issues and topics, sentiments expressed, volume of media coverage as well as the phrasing & terminology used. Together, these indicators form a robust framework for constructing the different aspects of the media framing of the conflict within the sampled news article dataset.

Analysing the emphasis of the online news reporting on the war, largely through frequency analysis of the extracted entities and concepts from the news article headings, was key to identifying and understanding the various aspects of the media framing that received the most focus from the news publishers. Assessing the sentiments expressed within the news headlines using the process of Sentiment Analysis enabled this study helped to establish the viewpoint of the news websites on the specific stories published and thus providing another aspect of the media framing process.

Examining the volume of online media coverage was critical for gauging the degree of frame amplification which Snow et al (1986) describe as the clarification and invigoration of an interpretive frame that bears on a particular issue, problem, or set of events". Finally, by analysing the phrasing and terminology of the news headlines relating to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict identified which aspects of pre-existing notions and concepts the online news media drew upon to construct the framing of their coverage of the war, deliberately or inadvertently. The research findings contained in this study are therefore based on an aggregated analysis of the aforementioned indicators of the frame alignment process.

## 4.5. Methodological Assessment

While this research approach was designed to limit the subjectivity of the identified frames and ensure that the results of the content analysis process together with the identified frames are reliable and reproducible, the accuracy of the research findings are heavily dependent on the accuracy of the Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction AI-based models used. However, evaluating the accuracy of the Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction models employed in this study requires significant technical assessments beyond the scope of this research project.

As a result, it is extremely difficult to provide an objective and accurate methodological assessment at this time.

## 5. Research Findings

# 5.1. Overview of Findings

## **Summary of Research Findings**

The findings of this study partly confirmed the research hypothesis that the framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war by the online news media in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China are mostly consistent with each country's government's declared foreign policy and geostrategic interests regarding the conflict, especially in relations to security, economics, energy supply and politics. However, the research assumption that the online media framing of the war would be mirrored within Ukraine and the U.S. one hand, and Russia and China due to their respective aligned interests was inconsistent with the research findings. The research findings into the online media framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict are grouped under four main categories, namely emphasis, sentiments expressed, volume of coverage and phrasing & terminology. As explained in the Research Methodology section prior, each of these categories were selected as an indicator for one or more of the processes of frame alignment identified by Snow et al (1986).

In terms of emphasis, the online news media in each country focused largely on the topics, issues and aspects of the conflict that were aligned with their government's position on the conflict. The phrasing and terminology of the web-based news reporting within each country also mostly reflected that national government's professed views on the war to a large extent. The volume of online news media coverage of the conflict also positively correlated with the expected level interest of that country regarding the conflict. The distribution of sentiments expressed in each country's news websites however was more nuance and although there was some direct correlation with each media agency's country's official stand regarding the war, there were also some noticeable contradictions.

#### 5.2. Emphasis

According to sociologist Todd Gitlin (2003), media "frames are principles of selection, emphasis, and presentation composed of little tacit theories about what exists, what happens, and what matters." The focus or emphasis of the media's coverage on an issue constitutes a critical aspect of how that issue is framed and conveyed to the audience. Following this logic, the emphasis of the media reporting can be deemed an indicator of the media's focus of constructing its frame. Frequency analysis of the individual words and phrases used in the online news headlines about concepts and entities identified the highest focus of the headlines based on the occurrence of those words. While certain aspects of the each country's sampled online news media's emphasis bore similarities with one or more other countries, there were also several noticeable differences as well.

The online media in all four countries placed much emphasis on the incidents of fighting as well as the actions of Presidents Zelenskyy and Putin. These similarities notwithstanding, the news websites in each respective country did highlight some aspects more than the others. For instance The Ukrainian and U.S. news websites focused significantly more on the casualties and humanitarian impact of the conflict than the Russia and Chinese online media. In addition, the Russian and Chinese online headlines dwelled more in the West including the U.S., Germany, NATO and the EU more than the Ukrainian and American online reporting.

News on the fighting featured significantly in the online news from all the four countries, albeit in varied degrees. The Ukrainian and Russian online news headlines' focus on the fighting, 3.94% and 3.35% respectively, which was comparatively more than in the headlines from the U.S. and Chine news which was 1.82% and 1.53% respectively. Similarly, a sizable portion of the online news headlines were about Russian President Vladimir Putin and Ukrainian

President Volodymr Zelenskyy although the Chinese news websites' headlines neglected to mention President Zelenskyy. While the news websites in Ukraine, Russia and the U.S. referenced Putin and Zelenskyy in 1.68%, 1.70% and 1.41% of their headlines respectively, the Chinese news websites referred to Putin in 1.63% of their headlines with only no mentions of Zelenskyy.

Regarding the differences in emphasis of the online news headlines, the websites in Ukraine and the U.S. placed much more emphasis on the casualties and humanitarian impact of the conflict on Ukrainians than the Russian and Chinese online media. 2.26% and 1.29% of the Ukrainian and American news websites' headlines were about inter alia deaths, injuries and displacements caused by the fighting between Russian and Ukrainian forces and its impact on the people of Ukraine. Mentions of casualties and humanitarian-related issues within the Russian and Chinese news headlines was however negligible.

The Russian and Chinese online news headlines on the other hand referenced Western countries and international organisations like the U.S., Germany, NATO and the EU in their reporting much more than the Ukrainian and American news websites. While the Russian and Chinese online news made references to the West in 2.16% and 2.75% of their headlines respectively, the Ukrainian and U.S. online news referred to the Western countries and organisations in less their 0.50% of their coverage each.

The mutual focus of the online news reporting from the four countries on the fighting as well as on the leaders of both belligerent countries is unsurprising and is very likely consistent with general media coverage of previous major conflicts. Additionally, the key identified differences are consistent with this research project's hypothesis that the media reporting within each country would be consistent with that countries geo-strategic interests in the conflict. While Ukraine and the U.S. have an interest in highlighting the human-cost of the conflict to reinforce

the portrayal of Russia as an aggressor nation, the Russia and China as allies benefit from highlighting how Western expansionist policies have led to the conflict in Ukraine.

## 5.3. Sentiments Expressed

#### **Overview of Sentiments Identified**

Within sociology and political science, Sentiment Analysis can be a useful tool to explore the attitudes, feelings and expressed opinions about issues and topics. The analysis presented in this section of the study is based on the sentiment polarity determined through a process of computer-assisted Sentiment Analysis based on an Artificial Intelligence models explained in the previous section. Table 1.2 below shows the sentiment polarity distribution across the online news media in the 4 countries of interest.

Sentiments Identified	Ukraine	Russia	USA	China
<b>Negative Polarity</b>	56.02%	37.69%	42.38%	30.90%
Neutral / No Polarity	25.68%	39.92%	37.96%	35.02%
Positive Polarity	18.29%	22.39%	19.66%	34.08%

Table 1.2: Online news headlines sentiment polarity per country

#### **Sentiments of Ukrainian News Websites**

Unsurprisingly, the headlines of news stories about the conflict from the Ukrainian news websites contained the highest proportion of negative sentiments and the lowest share of positive sentiments compared to the Russian, American or Chinese news websites. This finding is consistent with the view of many Ukrainians that Russia's invasion as an unprovoked attack on their country and a blatant act of aggression (Reuters, 2022). More than half (56.02%) of

the sentiments identified within the Ukrainian news websites' headlines were negative and only 18.29% were positive. The remaining 25.68% were neutral or had no clear sentiment polarity.

#### Sentiments of Russian News Websites

22.39% of the article headline form Russian news websites expressed positive sentiments about various aspects of the conflict in Ukraine, a percentage second only to the Chinese news websites and marginally higher than the Ukrainian and American news websites. The strategic alliance between Russia and China as well as the stringent media control in both countries could explain why their news agencies express a higher proportion of positive sentiments in the reporting of the conflict compared to Ukraine and the U.S.

37.69% of the Russian website's articles on the war expressed negative sentiments which was lower than the percentage of negative sentiments found in the Ukrainian and American news websites but higher than the Chinese online news agencies. Once again, the state control of the media in Russia and China could be causing editorial synchronization of the narrative about the war with the Russian and Chinese governments, resulting in the suppression of negative sentiments expressed in the reporting. At 39.92%, the Russian news website articles' headlines about the war had the highest share of neutral sentiments in comparison to the news websites of the other countries.

#### Sentiments of U.S. News Websites

The proportion of negative sentiments identified in the news headlines from U.S. websites was 42.38%, second only to the negative sentiments found in the Ukrainian news website headlines and higher than both the Russian and Chinese. The share of positive sentiments from the U.S.

websites stood at 19.66%, marginally higher than those in the headlines from the Ukrainian websites, but lower than the positive sentiments found in the headlines of the Russian and Chinese news websites. Approximately 38% of the U.S. news website headlines were neutral or had no clear polarity which was similar to the proportion of neutral sentiments identified in the Russian and Chinese websites' headlines but much higher than the Ukrainian news headlines.

#### **Sentiments of Chinese News Websites**

At 34.08%, the positive sentiments detected in the headlines about the conflict from the Chinese news websites was higher than the other countries' online news, surprisingly even higher than the Russian news websites. The share of Chinese news website headlines with negative sentiments was 30.90% which was the lowest compared to the other countries while the neutral sentiments identified was 35.02%.

## **Focus of Negative Sentiments**

The focus of the sampled news headlines with negative sentiments from Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China respectively were concentrated on a broad range of varying issues and topics regarding the conflict in Ukraine. Among the most striking findings was the fact that the negative Russian media headlines barely mentioned the casualties of the conflict in sharp contrast with the Ukrainian media which placed significant emphasis on those killed and wounded by the fighting. In addition, the negative headlines from the Ukrainian online media barely touched on the economic impact of the war in contrast with the online media in the three other countries.

The bulk of the negative sentiments found within the Ukranian news headlines focused on the fighting between Russian and Ukrainian forces, the Russian government and Russia with

limited mention of casualties and destruction of infrastructure. 33.83% of the negative headlines were about combat-related events while 16.03% were about Russia and its government. Despite the devastating impact of the war on Ukrainians, only 12.23% of the negative headlines of the Ukrainian news websites focused on the casualties of the fighting and the immense destruction of the country's infrastructure. The Ukrainian news headlines also had the

The focus of the Russian news headlines with negative sentiments were less concentrated around specific topics as observed in the Ukrainian news headlines. Only 4.4% of the negative headlines related to the Ukrainian government and its senior officials with limited references President Volodymr Zelenskyy. Just 3.72% of the negative headlines from the Russian news was related to the fighting in Ukraine. Surprisingly however, in spite of the unprecedented economic sanctions imposed on Russia by Western countries following the invasion of Ukraine, only 1.43% of the negative Russian news headlines related to the economic impact of the war, while a negligible 0.29% covered the sanctions and just 1.17% were about the West. Given the level of media control exerted by the government in Russia, it is very likely that lack of emphasis on the sanctions and economic impact by the Russian media might be a result of censorship.

The highest concentration of negative headlines among the American news websites sampled were on Russia and Russian activity relating to the conflict in Ukraine. 5.20% of these headlines focused on Russia, its government and military forces. 4.52% of the negative headlines from the U.S. news websites centred on the fighting in Ukraine with 0.12% specifically on the casualties of the conflict. 3.80% of the U.S. headlines with negative sentiments were about the economic effects of the war in Ukraine and its impact on the energy sector. The negative U.S. headlines had the highest focus on economic impact of the war than the negative headlines from Ukrainian, Russian and Chinese online websites.

The greatest focus of the negative news sentiments from the Chinese news website headlines were about the West. 5.23% of the negative headlines referenced the countries like the U.S. and Germany as well as Western organisations like the EU and NATO. Interestingly, this share of negative headlines referencing the West was more than four times more present in the Chinese online media than the Russian. Only 1.20% of the negative headlines from the Chinese websites focused on the economic and energy-related impact of the conflict, which was lower than in the sampled U.S. & Russian online news headlines but more than the Ukrainian online media.

#### **Focus of Positive Sentiments**

Overall, the focus of the positive headlines from the sampled online media in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China were generally less concentrated on specific issues compared to the negative headlines. Nonetheless, a few topics received significant attention within the positive headlines from the individual countries. For instance, both the Ukrainian and Russian online media expressed substantial positive sentiments in the reporting about their respective governments. 6.56% of headlines from the sampled online news in Ukraine expressed positive sentiments toward the Ukrainian armed forces' efforts to defend the country. In addition, approximately 6.47% Ukrainian online news headlines with positive sentiments referenced the Ukrainian government and politicians, most prominently featuring President Volodymr Zelenskyy. Many of these articles expressed positive sentiments about the Ukrainian government's performance in response to the Russian attack. Similar positive sentiments about the Ukrainian government were present in about 4.44% of the sampled U.S. online news.

Within the Russian online news media, a significant share of the positive sentiments in the sampled news headlines were mostly referenced the Russian government directly or was about

the performance of the Russian military in the state-dubbed "Special Military Operation" in Ukraine. 5.50% of the positive headlines involved stories about the Russian government officials like President Putin and Foreign Minister Sergey Lavrov as well as government agencies like the Ministry of Defence and the Kremlin. 4.97% of the positive stories referred to the Russian military directly or referenced their involvement in combat in Ukraine.

The U.S. online news media's positive headlines dwelt largely on the surprisingly robust performance of the Ukrainian military in defending their country from the Russian attacks as well as the humanitarian and lethal aid provided to Ukraine by the West and other countries.

4.44% of the positive headlines made reference to how well the heavily outmatched Ukrainian armed forces were fairing against the much larger and better equipped Russian military. In addition, about 1.53% of the positive online news titles focused on the humanitarian aid and the weapons sent to Ukraine by other countries like the U.S., U.K., Germany, Canada, Poland etc.

In a somewhat contradictive manner, the sampled positive headlines within the Chinese online news media were about Russia and Russian actions in Ukraine, as well as international efforts to de-escalate the conflict through dialogue and cooperation. 6.26% these positive headlines referenced the Russian government, military and senior government officials while 2.13% of them focused on the wide ranging efforts by several unilateral and multi-lateral parties to broker a ceasefire in Ukraine.

## 5.4. Volume of Coverage

The extent to which the news media focuses on a particular issue constitutes a key aspect of how the media frames that particular issue to its audience (Downs, 1972). The volume of media coverage serves as a factor in how the media deliberately or inadvertently propagates its formed

framing of a given issue through the process of Frame Amplification. Frame Amplification refers to "the clarification and invigoration of an interpretive frame that bears on a particular issue, problem, or set of events" (Snow et al., 1986). As a result, the more the audience is presented with news about a particular topic, the more susceptible that audience is likely to be to the way the narrative of that topic is framed (Entman, 1993).

Based on the volume of articles found on the sampled news websites during the period between 1<sup>st</sup> December 2021 and 30<sup>th</sup> April 2022, the Russian and Ukrainian websites together had significantly more articles relating to the conflict in Ukraine than news websites in the U.S. and China combined. Unsurprisingly, out of the 24,422 news stories about the war in Ukraine, as the two conflicting nations, the sampled news websites in Ukraine and Russia had 73.17% of the captured articles. The Russian news websites had 12,009 articles (49.17%) while there were 5,861 articles (24.00%) from the websites in Ukraine.

The online news in the U.S. and China however collectively only accounted for 26.83% of the sampled articles about the war in Ukraine. The U.S. news websites had 5,762 articles related to the conflict in Ukraine representing 23.59% of the total sampled news articles. The Chinese news websites published 790 articles relating to the war in Ukraine making up just 3.23% of the total sampled news stories.

The volume of news coverage on a particular topic alone does not always provide an accurate measure of the level of media interest, due to other important factors like the size of the media organisation, its resources and the frequency of publications (Yeshambel and Bayable, 2016). Due to the increasing ease of web publication, the latter factor might be less of an issue these days. All these factors notwithstanding, the volume of coverage does give a fairly good indication of the level of news publishers' focus about a particular subject.

Given the major direct impact the conflict has on Ukraine and Russia in terms of casualties, economic impact, financial cost inter alia, it is therefore expected that the online news media in both countries would focus substantial attention on reporting on the war. As evident within the sampled data, both countries' online media focused on conflict-related stories significantly more in line with this research project's hypothesis. Interestingly however, the volume of coverage on the war by the U.S. online media was almost as much as in the Ukrainian webbased news. The volume of coverage from the Chinese news websites was significantly lower than all the other countries which may indicate a generally lower level of interest within the Chinese online news media. However, a detailed assessment of the likely causes and implications of the varying volume of online news reporting on the conflict falls outside the scope of this research project.

# 5.5. Phrasing & Terminology

The choice of phrasing news headlines while referring to specific subjects offer useful insights into the general narrative the publisher seeks to portray about the subject in question (Pan and Kosicki, 1993). For instance, differences in the way the online media within the respective belligerent countries of the conflict often refer to each other in their reporting provides a good sense of their desired framing objective as well as their sentiments towards each other. Many of the Ukrainian online media headlines about Russian troops referred to them in disparaging terms such as "occupiers" (0.65%), "invaders" (0.43%) and "enemy" (0.30%). On the other hand, a notable proportion of the Russian online news headlines labelled the Ukrainians as "Nazis" (0.29%) and "nationalists" (0.15%) very much in line with the Russian government's language used to describe the Ukrainian government (Troianovski, 2022). This choice of labelling is a clear attempt by the media on each side to portray the other in a negative frame.

Beyond the name-calling by the respective online media in each conflicting country, the sampled data indicates a more glaring disparity in the way the news from the different countries tended to describe Russia's attack. The predominantly term used to describe Russia's attack on Ukraine within the Ukrainian (0.25%) and U.S. (0.39%) online media was "invasion". The Russian news websites however, mostly used the Kremlin approved euphemism "special military operation" (0.77%) and in certain instances, shortening it to just "special operation". Similar to the Ukrainian news media, the U.S. news websites also used "invasion" (0.39%) more than any other word to describe Russia's attack on Ukraine. While the news websites in China also used word "invasion" (0.15%) to describe Russia's incursion into Ukraine, the phrase "special military operation" (0.23) appeared more in the headlines.

The phenomenon of conflicting parties demonizing and branding each other with negative connotations during a conflict is not unique to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict. For instance, following the 2003 U.S. invasion and occupation of Iraq, American troops often referred to the Iraqis as "Sand Niggers", "Camel Jockeys", "Hajjis" and "Towel Heads" (Martin, 2022). Though this derogatory name-calling had racist undertones, it was also a means by which the U.S. troops demeaned and denigrated their Iraqi adversaries. In a similar vein, it is very like that parts of both the Russian and Ukrainian online news media are seeking to vilify their respective opponents for propaganda purposes.

## 5.6. Implications of Findings

The media has tremendous power in influencing the perceptions of their audience on important issues, and this ability is especially potent during times of war (Stafford, 2013). The 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict has become a flashpoint of Western ideological differences with the revisionist powers, Russia directly and China indirectly (Courtney and Wilson, 2022). This

study's findings confirm that the framing of the conflict by the online news media in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China each mostly aligned with their respective government's position on various aspects of the conflict. This phenomenon of Editorial Synchronisation was as present in Ukraine and the U.S. where both countries score relatively high on the World Press Freedom Index (WPFI) as it was in Russia and China although they score much lower on the WPFI (Reporters Without Borders, 2022).

Surprisingly however, barring a few exceptions, the framing of the conflict by the online news media within each country generally varied significantly from that of their corresponding ally. This study's findings suggest that the framing of the war by the news websites in each country tended to be more in line with that country's interests regarding the war rather than follow the collective interest of the coalition. This dynamic proved to be equally present between the Ukrainian and the American online news media as it was with the Russian and Chinese.

While the fighting between Russia and Ukraine has been geographically limited to Ukrainian territory, the world has felt the impact of the conflict in several ways particularly through the direct regional and global security calculus by several countries as well as indirectly through its impact on the economies and energy security of countries around the world. As a result of the pervasive and diverse implications of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict, it is crucial for governments and policy makers to take into account how and what kind of information is propagated about the war in their strategic assessments. Evaluating how the war is framed, especially by the news media presents a practical and viable way to understand how the war is presented to audiences around the world.

The 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict presents a direct risk to Ukraine's national security as well as the regional security of Europe. In response to these threats, Western countries and defence organisations including the U.S. and NATO have committed to increasing their force size and

capabilities, especially within Europe to counter any escalation of Russian aggression (Pszczel, 2022). Also, Finland and Sweden have expressed their interest to join NATO, a move which the alliance has welcomed and has completed accession talks with both countries (NATO, 2022). Beyond Europe, other countries especially in Asia where countries like Japan (Buddhavarapu, 2022) and Taiwan (Grossman, 2022) have stated the need to boost their defence capabilities largely in response to their long-standing territorial disputes with China. How these issues are framed by the news media in such countries particular within the affected European and Asian countries will doubtlessly influence the nature of the policy response by their citizens.

The war in Ukraine commenced just as many countries were beginning to emerge from the adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, compounding to the daunting challenge for national governments especially in terms of their macro-economic stability as well as food and energy supply (Kammer et al., 2022). As a major global producer of agriproducts like maize, wheat, sunflower, the fighting in Ukraine has disrupted the supply of such products and led to hikes in global prices (World Trade Organisation, n.d.). On the other hand, the unprecedented Western sanctions imposed on Russia for invading Ukraine have contributed to a surge in global energy costs since Russia is one of the world's largest exporter of energy (J.P. Morgan, 2022). As result, many national governments around the world have sought to blame Russia's aggression for much of their recent economic, energy and food problems. The news media's framing of these claims within individual countries is also likely to play a determining role in whether their citizens accept or reject the narrative.

Given these first and second order effects of the war in Ukraine, coupled with the aforementioned media-related phenomena like the CNN Effect, Editorial Synchronisation and Mediatisation, media framing of the conflict especially by news agencies has the potential not just to inform the audiences of national and multi-lateral responses to the conflict, but also

inadvertently and indirectly influence the policy direction of governments and international organisations towards the conflict. The findings of this study clearly demonstrate how complex and nuanced the online news media's framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict has been within the 4 countries. In addition, considering the quest for narrative control during war by conflicting parties and their allies, media framing will continue to be a key factor in shaping both public perception towards the conflict among audiences as well as indirectly influencing how those audiences view their governments' policies towards the war.

#### 6. Limitations of Research

## 6.1. Overview of Project Limitations

While the research processes and techniques employed in gathering and analysing the data presented in this study sought to be as robust as possible, there were certain limitations inherent to the project by virtue of the nature of topic. For example, since the conflict was still raging in Ukraine during the course of this research project, there was limited academic literature on the conflict, resulting in some of the literature review in Chapter 3 being based largely on news reports. While both academic literature and news reports can provide valuable insights into the research topic, the latter often suffers from widely varied discrepancies and biases which the former mitigates to a large extent through the scholarly peer review process.

In addition, certain potentially important factors may have been overlooked or disregarded due to time and other resource constraints. For instance, the volume of news stories reviewed was limited by the ability to search for and extract relevant articles from the news websites while the results of the analysis was often restricted to just a few striking findings within the data. Finally, despite the fairly high reliability of the language translation software as well as the AI-based Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction models used to process and analyse the data for this project, they are not entirely accurate. These identified limitations ultimately affected the quality and accuracy of this project's findings and any future research related to this topic should endeavour to address these challenges in order to improve the quality and validity of its findings.

## 6.2. Heavy Reliance on News Material

Although previous conflicts between Russia and Ukraine have been well documented and researched, with significant academic literature available on the issue, especially over the past

decade, the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war lacked as much research chiefly due to its contemporary nature. As a result, certain aspects of this project benefited from the pool of existing academic literature, while other sections had to rely much more on recent media reporting. For instance, the assessment of media framing, post-Soviet Russia-Ukraine relations and the role of the media in conflicts was deeply rooted in the wealth of available academic research. On the other hand, the aspects concernin Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, the ensuing sanctions and assessment of global media coverage relied mostly on news articles.

Lacking the often higher standards of academic publications, the news media does not always conform to the expected journalistic standards (Waters, 2022). This problem is particularly heightened within the online news industry where the barrier of entry is relatively low and the publishers have to compete aggressively to obtain and sustain their audiences amidst the increasing options of web-based news sources. Very often, this dynamic leads to inter alia the lowering of journalistic standards in lieu of poorly verified stories and sensationalized reporting (Frampton, 2015). As a result, this project's heavy reliance on news articles effectively means its findings may be subject to the associated shortcomings inherent in the referenced news media sources.

## 6.3. Sampling Limitations & Access Restrictions

Despite careful research design and planning for this project, the data sampling and collection process was complicated by the lack of a clearly defined population size of news websites to sample from. Mostly due to the sprawling nature of the internet and the low barrier to entry for online news publishers, this project was unable to objectively and accurate estimate the number of news websites predominantly operated in the countries of interest, namely Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China. In addition, restrictions on access to certain websites by specific

governments increased the difficulty in finding and accessing certain news websites. For example, In March 2022, the European Union ordered the removal of Russian-State owned media like Russia Today (RT) from search engine results and social media re-shared links (Schechner, 2022).

As a result of the inability to objectively determine the population of online news publishers within Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. & China, it is difficult to accurately state this research project's confidence level, confidence interval or standard deviation. Therefore, the lack of these indicators make it difficult to extrapolate or generalize the findings of this project. As a result, these findings may therefore only apply to a narrow segment of the sampled news websites and it is impossible to confidently determine or contradict this without further research.

## 6.4. Accuracy of Language Translation & AI-Based Models

The use of language translation software as well as Artificial Intelligence based Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction models for the analysis of the research data was doubtlessly beneficial for examining a large amount of data. It is very likely that the accuracy of these tools had some impact on the findings of the research. However, the nature and extent of this impact is very difficult to objectively ascertain within the scope of the project.

This research project's focus on media reports from four countries each with its own predominant language required the translation of the news headlines into a common language, English in this case, in order to facilitate effective analyses. The Ukrainian, Russian and Chinese article titles and meta-data were translated into English using machine-assisted translation software. The software used in this project, Google Translate, has varied accuracy levels depending on the specific source and translated languages in question. For instance,

research by Groves & Mundt (2015) found that Google Translate was on average about 80% accurate when translating Romance and Germanic languages, a rate higher than the other language translation pairs. These varied accuracy levels may have had an adverse impact on the research findings due to the changes in meaning faulty translation can bring about.

The AI-based Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction models used to categorize the news headlines' sentiments as well as identify the entities and concepts inherent in the article titles also have varied accuracy based on how well those models have been trained and their level of general applicability. For example, the accuracy of Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction models general vary depending on the learning classifiers they upon which they are based as well as the text corpus they are applied on (Alam and Yao, 2018). However, the technical assessment of the accuracy of these models falls outside the scope of this research project.

#### 6.5. Future Research

Any further research into the media framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict would benefit greatly from avoiding or compensating for the identified limitations mentioned above. In addition, an increased scope of media types, media sources in more countries would most likely provide a more generalized understanding of how the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict is framed by the media. Finally, future work conducted after the end of the conflict will also have the benefit of providing a more holistic assessment of how the entire conflict was framed by the news media.

#### 7. Conclusion

This project sought to compare how the online news media in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China framed their coverage of the war that proceeded from Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022. The main objective of this study was to answer the research question "what are the differences and similarities between the online news media's framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict in Ukraine, Russia, the United States and China"? The timeframe of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict-related online news analysed in this study spanned the period from the beginning of December 2021 when U.S. government started sounding the alarm about Russia's intention to invade Ukraine till the end of April 2022 by which time the fighting between Russian and Ukrainian forces was raging in several parts of Ukraine.

This study's findings confirmed the first aspect research hypothesis that the differences and similarities in the framing of online news related to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war in Ukraine, Russia, the U.S. and China were mostly consistent with each country's government's geostrategic interests particularly in terms of their respective security, economic, energy and political considerations. However, the findings of the research did not confirm the research assumption that the online news media's framing of the war within Ukraine and Russia would be very similar to the framing in the U.S. and China respectively based on their alliances. Surprisingly, there were some notable similarities across the opposing countries on framing on certain aspects of the conflict like the humanitarian impact of the fighting as well as the wars economic ramifications.

The emphasis of online news media coverage relating to the conflict in Ukraine was mostly centred on issues that affected the respective media agencies' country and the framing of the specific issues were often aligned with the stated position of that country's government. The phrasing and terminology employed by the sampled news websites in their reporting of the conflict mirrored to a large extent the policy positions echoed by the publishers' respective

governments as well. The distribution of positive, negative and neutral sentiments within the online reporting within each country was however much more nuanced and even though some of these sentiments were in line with the respective national governments', some contradictions were also present within the research data. Finally, the volume of online news media coverage of the conflict within each country mostly indicated a positive correlated with the expected level geostrategic, economic, political and security interest of that country regarding the war in Ukraine.

This study was conducted using an exploratory sequential mixed method content analysis approach with the primary aim of identifying media frames within the sampled online news in an objective and quantifiable manner. To avoid the subjectivity that often plagues content analysis which results in idiosyncratic and unreproducible research findings, this project employed Artificial Intelligence-based Sentiment Analysis and Topic Extraction software for identifying the frames within the gathered online news data related to the 2022 Russia-Ukraine conflict. Using this computer-assisted method of content analysis greatly increased the consistency in frame identification compared to other manual methods as well as enabling this study to analyse 24,422 articles from 12 news websites.

Due to the fact that this research study only focused on comparing the online news media's framing of the 2022 Russia-Ukraine war over a limited period, it is possible that its findings are not consistent with the framing of the conflict over its entire duration. In addition, logistical and time constraints of this research project allowed for assessing only a narrow segment of the news websites within the countries of interest. Therefore, any future studies into this research question shall greatly benefit from analysing the conflict over its entirety as well as a significantly larger dataset of news articles not just from online sources, but also other media channels like print, television and radio. Making such adjustments in future studies will provide more holistic insights into the framing of conflict by the media.

# 8. Bibliography

Abrams, S., (2016). 'Beyond Propaganda: Soviet Active Measures in Putin's Russia'.

Connections: The Quarterly Journal, 15(1), pp.5-31.

Abrams, E., (2022). 'The New Cold War'. [online] <u>Council on Foreign Relations</u>. Available at: <a href="https://www.cfr.org/blog/new-cold-war-0">https://www.cfr.org/blog/new-cold-war-0</a> [Accessed 15 April 2022].

Adeoye, A., (2022). 'UN Vote on Russia Invasion Shows a Changing Africa'. [online] Chatham House. Available at: <a href="https://www.chathamhouse.org/2022/03/un-vote-russia-invasion-shows-changing-africa">https://www.chathamhouse.org/2022/03/un-vote-russia-invasion-shows-changing-africa</a> [Accessed 16 March 2022].

Agence France-Presse, (2022). 'France's Macron Warns 'War Will Last' - The Moscow Times. [online] The Moscow Times. Available at:

<a href="https://www.themoscowtimes.com/2022/02/26/frances-macron-warns-war-will-last-a76604">https://www.themoscowtimes.com/2022/02/26/frances-macron-warns-war-will-last-a76604</a> [Accessed 14 March 2022].

Aizhu, C., (2022). 'Russia, China Agree 30-Year Gas Deal Via New Pipeline, to Settle in Euros'. [online] Reuters. Available at: <a href="https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/exclusive-russia-china-agree-30-year-gas-deal-using-new-pipeline-source-2022-02-04/">https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/exclusive-russia-china-agree-30-year-gas-deal-using-new-pipeline-source-2022-02-04/</a> [Accessed 28 February 2022].

Alam, S. and Yao, N., (2018). 'The Impact of Preprocessing Steps on the Accuracy of Machine Learning Algorithms in Sentiment Analysis'. Computational and Mathematical Organization Theory, 25(3), pp.319-335.

Albert, E., (2018). 'China's Big Bet on Soft Power'. [online] Council on Foreign Relations. Available at: <a href="https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/chinas-big-bet-soft-power">https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/chinas-big-bet-soft-power</a> [Accessed 12 March 2022].

Albright, M., (1997). 4/23/97 'Albright Testimony on NATO Enlargement'. [online] state.gov. Available at: <a href="https://1997-2001.state.gov/statements/970423.html">https://1997-2001.state.gov/statements/970423.html</a> [Accessed 6 February 2022].

Aleem, Z., (2022). 'How Admitting Double Standards Can Help Us Avoid World War III'. [online] MSNBC.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.msnbc.com/opinion/msnbc-opinion/why-u-s-s-double-standards-russia-ukraine-war-matter-n1293171">https://www.msnbc.com/opinion/msnbc-opinion/why-u-s-s-double-standards-russia-ukraine-war-matter-n1293171</a> [Accessed 6 April 2022].

Al Jazeera, (2022a). 'Double standards: Western coverage of Ukraine war criticised'. [online] Aljazeera.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/2/27/western-media-coverage-ukraine-russia-invasion-criticism">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/2/27/western-media-coverage-ukraine-russia-invasion-criticism</a> [Accessed 17 March 2022].

Al Jazeera, (2022b). 'How is Ukraine Fighting the Media War?'. [online] Aljazeera.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/program/the-listening-post/2022/3/26/how-is-ukraine-fighting-the-media-war">https://www.aljazeera.com/program/the-listening-post/2022/3/26/how-is-ukraine-fighting-the-media-war</a> [Accessed 11 April 2022].

Al Jazeera, (2022c). 'The War in Ukraine, According to the US Media'. [online]

Aljazeera.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/program/the-listening-post/2022/3/19/the-war-in-ukraine-according-to-the-us-media">https://www.aljazeera.com/program/the-listening-post/2022/3/19/the-war-in-ukraine-according-to-the-us-media</a> [Accessed 27 April 2022].

Al Jazeera, (2022d). 'Which Countries Are Sending Military Aid to Ukraine?'. [online] Al Jazeera. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/2/28/which-countries-are-sending-military-aid-to-ukraine">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/2/28/which-countries-are-sending-military-aid-to-ukraine</a> [Accessed 13 March 2022].

Al Lawati, A. and Ebrahim, N., (2022). 'How the Ukraine War Exposed Western media Bias'. [online] CNN. Available at: <a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2022/03/04/media/mideast-summary-04-03-2022-intl/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2022/03/04/media/mideast-summary-04-03-2022-intl/index.html</a> [Accessed 9 April 2022].

Allport, F. and Lepkin, M., (1943). 'Building War Morale with News-Headlines'. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, 7(2), p.211.

Altheide, D., (1997). "The News Media, the Problem Frame, and the Production of Fear". The Sociological Quarterly, 38(4), pp.647-668.

Andreas, P. and Greenhill, K., (2011). <u>Sex, Drugs, and Body Counts</u>. 1st ed. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Arnold, K., Preston, P. and Kinnebrock, S., (2019). <u>The Handbook of European</u> Communication History. 1st ed. New Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell, p.173.

The Associated Press, (2022). 'Harris Warns Russia of Unprecedented Sanctions If It Invades Ukraine'. [online] NBC News. Available at: <a href="https://www.nbcnews.com/news/world/harris-warns-russia-unprecedented-sanctions-if-it-invades-ukraine-n1289387">https://www.nbcnews.com/news/world/harris-warns-russia-unprecedented-sanctions-if-it-invades-ukraine-n1289387</a> [Accessed 29 February 2022].

Atkins, R., (2022). Twitter Post by Atkins. [online] Twitter. Available at:

<a href="https://twitter.com/bbcrosatkins/status/1498268841838841864">https://twitter.com/bbcrosatkins/status/1498268841838841864</a>> [Accessed 17 April 2022].

Badsey, S., (2014). 'Propaganda: Media in War Politics | International Encyclopedia of the First World War (WW1)'. [online] Encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net. Available at: <a href="https://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/propaganda\_media\_in\_war\_politics">https://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/propaganda\_media\_in\_war\_politics</a> [Accessed 10 March 2022].

Bajraktari, Y. and Parajon, C., (2022). 'The Role of the Media in Conflict'. [online] United States Institute of Peace. Available at: <a href="https://www.usip.org/publications/2007/06/role-media-conflict">https://www.usip.org/publications/2007/06/role-media-conflict</a> [Accessed 11 March 2022].

Baker, P., (2022). 'In Ukraine Conflict, Putin Relies on a Promise That Ultimately Wasn't'. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at:

<a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2022/01/09/us/politics/russia-ukraine-james-baker.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2022/01/09/us/politics/russia-ukraine-james-baker.html</a> [Accessed 7 April 2022].

Baker, S., (2022). 'Ukraine's President Says His Country Had Been 'Left Alone' to Defend Itself from Russia'. [online] Business Insider. Available at:

<a href="https://www.businessinsider.com/ukraine-president-says-country-left-alone-defend-from-russia-2022-2">https://www.businessinsider.com/ukraine-president-says-country-left-alone-defend-from-russia-2022-2</a> [Accessed 3 March 2022].

Bandurski, D., (2022). 'China and Russia Are Joining Forces to Spread Disinformation'. [online] Brookings. Available at: <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/techstream/china-and-russia-are-joining-forces-to-spread-disinformation/">https://www.brookings.edu/techstream/china-and-russia-are-joining-forces-to-spread-disinformation/</a> [Accessed 4 April 2022].

BBC, (2022). 'Russia Says 63,000 Troops Have Seen Combat in Syria'. [online] BBC. Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-45284121">https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-45284121</a> [Accessed 29 March 2022].

BBC, (2021). 'Russia Ukraine: Biden Warns Russia Against Ukraine 'Red Lines''. [online] BBC News. Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-59528864">https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-59528864</a> [Accessed 9 February 2022].

Benton, T., Froggatt, A., Wellesley, L., Grafham, O., King, R., Morisetti, N., Nixey, J. and Schröder, P., (2022). 'The Ukraine War and Threats to Food and Energy Security'. [online] Chatham House. Available at: <a href="https://www.chathamhouse.org/2022/04/ukraine-war-and-threats-food-and-energy-security/02-pre-conflict-economic-climate">https://www.chathamhouse.org/2022/04/ukraine-war-and-threats-food-and-energy-security/02-pre-conflict-economic-climate</a> [Accessed 30 April 2022].

Berman, E., (2017). 'An Exploratory Sequential Mixed Methods Approach to Understanding Researchers' Data Management Practices at UVM: Integrated Findings to Develop Research Data Service'. <u>Journal of eScience Libriarianship</u>, 6(1).

Bertrand, N., Liebermann, O. and Chance, M., (2022). 'US Officials: Indications Russia Has Moved Blood Supplies to Ukraine Border'. [online] CNN. Available at: <a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2022/01/29/politics/us-official-russia-ukraine-blood-supplies/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2022/01/29/politics/us-official-russia-ukraine-blood-supplies/index.html</a> [Accessed 13 February 2022].

Bilefsky, D., Pérez-Peña, R. and Nagourney, E., (2022). 'The Roots of the Ukraine War: How the Crisis Developed'. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/article/russia-ukraine-nato-europe.html">https://www.nytimes.com/article/russia-ukraine-nato-europe.html</a> [Accessed 13 May 2022].

Boni, F., (2002). 'Framing Media Masculinities'. <u>European Journal of Communication</u>, 17(4), pp.465-478.

Bostock, B., (2022). 'Ukraine's President told Biden to 'Calm Down' Russian Invasion Warnings, Saying He Was Creating Unwanted Panic'. [online] The Washington Post. Available at: <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/01/30/ukraine-Zelenskyyrussia-biden/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/01/30/ukraine-Zelenskyyrussia-biden/</a> [Accessed 14 January 2022].

Bradshaw, S. and Howard, P., (2019). 'The Global Disinformation Order: 2019 Global Inventory of Organised Social Media Manipulation'. Computational Propaganda Research Project. Oxford: University of Oxford.

Brewster, M., (2022). 'As Invasion Threat Looms, Ukraine Asks for Weapons — and Canada Makes Evacuation Plans'. [online] CBC. Available at:

<a href="https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/ukraine-russia-joly-putin-1.6319694">https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/ukraine-russia-joly-putin-1.6319694</a> [Accessed 21 February 2022].

Brunnstrom, D. and Cornwell, S., (2008). 'NATO Promises Ukraine, Georgia Entry One Day'. [online] Reuters. Available at: <a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-nato-idUSL0179714620080403">https://www.reuters.com/article/us-nato-idUSL0179714620080403</a> [Accessed 3 March 2022].

Brzezinski, Z., (2009). 'An Agenda for NATO: Toward a Global Security Web'. <u>Council on</u> Foreign Relations, 88(5), pp.2-20.

Bubich, A., (2022). 'Commentary: Here's What Leaders Can Learn from Zelensky's Communication Style'. [online] Fortune. Available at:

<a href="https://fortune.com/2022/04/19/leadership-zelensky-communication-style-media-war-social-leader-strategy-international-ukraine-invasion-alen-bubich/">https://fortune.com/2022/04/19/leadership-zelensky-communication-style-media-war-social-leader-strategy-international-ukraine-invasion-alen-bubich/</a> [Accessed 12 May 2022].

Buddhavarapu, R., (2022). 'Jolted by the Ukraine War and China's Aggression, Japan Looks to Boost Its Defense Capability'. [online] CNBC. Available at:

<a href="https://www.cnbc.com/2022/06/17/japan-to-boost-its-defense-capability-amid-ukraine-war-china-aggression.html">https://www.cnbc.com/2022/06/17/japan-to-boost-its-defense-capability-amid-ukraine-war-china-aggression.html</a> [Accessed 25 June 2022].

Burke, J., (2014). 'Post-Soviet world: What You Need to Know About the 15 States'. [online] The Guardian. Available at: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/jun/09/-sp-profiles-post-soviet-states">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/jun/09/-sp-profiles-post-soviet-states</a> [Accessed 11 January 2022].

Burscher, B., Odijk, D., Vliegenthart, R., de Rijke, M. and de Vreese, C., (2014). 'Teaching the Computer to Code Frames in News: Comparing Two Supervised Machine Learning Approaches to Frame Analysis'. Communication Methods and Measures, 8(3), pp.190-206.

Carras, C., (2022). 'Trevor Noah Slams Media for Racist Remarks on Ukraine: War 'Was Europe's Entire Thing''. [online] Los Angeles Times. Available at:

<a href="https://www.latimes.com/entertainment-arts/tv/story/2022-03-01/russia-ukraine-invasion-trevor-noah-daily-show">https://www.latimes.com/entertainment-arts/tv/story/2022-03-01/russia-ukraine-invasion-trevor-noah-daily-show</a> [Accessed 12 April 2022].

Central Intelligence Agency, (2022). 'CIA World Factbook: Ukraine'. [online] Cia.gov. Available at: <a href="https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/ukraine/">https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/ukraine/</a> [Accessed 5 March 2022].

Cheung, R., (2022). 'Russia-Ukraine War: In Chinese Media, the US is the Villain'. [online] Aljazeera.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/4/6/china-media-coverage-ukraine-war">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/4/6/china-media-coverage-ukraine-war</a> [Accessed 18 April 2022].

Child, D., Petrova, S. and Abdalla, J., (2022). 'Ukraine War Latest Updates: '20,000 Civilians Killed in Mariupol''. [online] Aljazeera.com. Available at:

<a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/4/11/three-killed-in-russian-attacks-ukraine-donetsk-liveblog">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/4/11/three-killed-in-russian-attacks-ukraine-donetsk-liveblog</a> [Accessed 24 April 2022].

Cohen, E., (2022). 'Why Can't the West Admit That Ukraine Is Winning?'. [online] The Atlantic. Available at: <a href="https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2022/03/ukraine-is-winning-war-russia/627121/">https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2022/03/ukraine-is-winning-war-russia/627121/</a> [Accessed 13 April 2022].

Cole, B., (2022). 'Bernie Sanders says U.S. "Hypocritical" to Reject Russia Concerns Over NATO Expansion'. [online] Newsweek. Available at: <a href="https://www.newsweek.com/bernie-sanders-guardian-russia-ukraine-crisis-putin-war-nato-1677453">https://www.newsweek.com/bernie-sanders-guardian-russia-ukraine-crisis-putin-war-nato-1677453</a> [Accessed 5 March 2022].

Corder, M., (2022). 'Defense Seeks Acquittal of Russian Suspect in MH17 Downing'.

[online] AP NEWS. Available at: <a href="https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-europe-shootings-malaysia-netherlands-cf09350dd2cfb0147a2d9d60c719be19">https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-europe-shootings-malaysia-netherlands-cf09350dd2cfb0147a2d9d60c719be19</a> [Accessed 9 April 2022].

Cottle, S., (2006). 'Mediatized Conflict: Developments in Media and Conflict Studies'. Open University Course Material: Politics, Media and War: 9/11 and its Aftermaths, [online] pp.1-3. Available at:

<a href="https://www.open.edu/openlearn/pluginfile.php/633284/mod\_resource/content/1/d271\_extra">https://www.open.edu/openlearn/pluginfile.php/633284/mod\_resource/content/1/d271\_extra</a> ct 15.pdf> [Accessed 7 February 2022].

Creswell, J., Klassen, A., Clark, V. and Smith, K., (2012). 'Best Practices for Mixed Methods Research in the Health Sciences'. [online] Available at:

<a href="https://www.csun.edu/sites/default/files/best\_prac\_mixed\_methods.pdf">https://www.csun.edu/sites/default/files/best\_prac\_mixed\_methods.pdf</a> [Accessed 9 February 2022].

Courtney, W. and Wilson, P., (2022). 'Geostrategic Consequences of Russia's War Against Ukraine'. [online] Rand Corporation. Available at:

<a href="https://www.rand.org/blog/2022/04/geostrategic-consequences-of-russias-war-against-ukraine.html">https://www.rand.org/blog/2022/04/geostrategic-consequences-of-russias-war-against-ukraine.html</a> [Accessed 8 May 2022].

Daoud, D., (2022). 'Israel Won't Stick Out Its Neck for Ukraine. It's Because of Russia'. [online] Atlantic Council. Available at:

<a href="https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/menasource/israel-wont-stick-out-its-neck-for-ukraine-its-because-of-russia/">https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/menasource/israel-wont-stick-out-its-neck-for-ukraine-its-because-of-russia/</a> [Accessed 20 April 2022].

Depetris, D. and Menon, R., (2022). 'The U.S. Can't Force the Rest of the World to Support Ukraine. Here's Why'. [online] POLITICO. Available at:

<a href="https://www.politico.com/news/magazine/2022/05/25/ukraine-sidelines-regional-not-global-conflict-00034793">https://www.politico.com/news/magazine/2022/05/25/ukraine-sidelines-regional-not-global-conflict-00034793</a> [Accessed 8 June 2022].

Dewan, A., (2022). 'Ukraine and Russia's Militaries Are David and Goliath. Here's How They Compare'. [online] CNN. Available at:

<a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2022/02/25/europe/russia-ukraine-military-comparison-intl/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2022/02/25/europe/russia-ukraine-military-comparison-intl/index.html</a> [Accessed 23 February 2022].

De Deugd, N., (2012). 'Easier Said than Done'. Studia Diplomatica, 65(2), pp.29-42.

Deutsche Welle, (2022). 'Fake News Thrives Amid Russia-Ukraine War'. [online]

DW.COM. Available at: <a href="https://www.dw.com/en/fact-check-fake-news-thrives-amid-russia-ukraine-war/a-61477502">https://www.dw.com/en/fact-check-fake-news-thrives-amid-russia-ukraine-war/a-61477502</a> [Accessed 26 June 2022].

De Witte, M., (2022). 'Reporting the war in Ukraine'. [online] Stanford University. Available at: <a href="https://news.stanford.edu/2022/03/17/reporting-war-ukraine/">https://news.stanford.edu/2022/03/17/reporting-war-ukraine/</a> [Accessed 17 March 2022].

Dickinson, P., (2020). 'How Ukraine's Orange Revolution Shaped Twenty-First Century Geopolitics'. [online] Atlantic Council. Available at:

<a href="https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/ukrainealert/how-ukraines-orange-revolution-shaped-twenty-first-century-geopolitics/">https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/ukrainealert/how-ukraines-orange-revolution-shaped-twenty-first-century-geopolitics/</a> [Accessed 8 March 2022].

Dickinson, P., (2018). 'They Speak Russian in Crimea, But That Doesn't Make It Part of Russia'. [online] Atlantic Council. Available at:

<a href="https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/ukrainealert/they-speak-russian-in-crimea-but-that-doesn-t-make-it-part-of-russia/">https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/ukrainealert/they-speak-russian-in-crimea-but-that-doesn-t-make-it-part-of-russia/</a> [Accessed 4 February 2022].

Dodman, B., (2022). 'Moldova, Then Georgia, Now Ukraine: How Russia Built 'Bridgeheads into Post-Soviet Space''. [online] France 24. Available at:

<a href="https://www.france24.com/en/europe/20220222-moldova-then-georgia-now-ukraine-how-russia-built-bridgeheads-into-post-soviet-space">https://www.france24.com/en/europe/20220222-moldova-then-georgia-now-ukraine-how-russia-built-bridgeheads-into-post-soviet-space</a> [Accessed 14 April 2022].

Domm, P., (2022). 'A Russian Invasion of Ukraine Could Send Shockwaves Through Financial Markets'. [online] CNBC. Available at: <a href="https://www.cnbc.com/2022/02/02/a-russian-invasion-of-ukraine-could-send-shockwaves-through-financial-markets-heres-how.html">https://www.cnbc.com/2022/02/02/a-russian-invasion-of-ukraine-could-send-shockwaves-through-financial-markets-heres-how.html</a> [Accessed 15 February 2022].

Downs, A., (1972). 'Up and Down With Ecology—the "Issue-Attention Cycle". [online] Nationalaffairs.com. Available at:

<a href="https://www.nationalaffairs.com/public\_interest/detail/up-and-down-with-ecologythe-issue-attention-cycle">https://www.nationalaffairs.com/public\_interest/detail/up-and-down-with-ecologythe-issue-attention-cycle</a> [Accessed 11 April 2022].

Druckman, J. and Parkin, M., (2005). 'The Impact of Media Bias: How Editorial Slant Affects Voters'. The Journal of Politics, 67(4), pp.1030-1049

Duffy, C. and Metz, R., (2022). 'Why Ukraine War misinformation is So Hard to Police'. [online] cnn.com. Available at: <a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2022/03/15/tech/ukraine-russia-misinformation-challenges/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2022/03/15/tech/ukraine-russia-misinformation-challenges/index.html</a> [Accessed 30 March 2022].

Eberl, J., Wagner, M. and Boomgaarden, H., (2016). 'Party Advertising in Newspapers'. Journalism Studies, 19(6), pp.782-802.

Eddy, K. and Fletcher, R., (2022). 'Perceptions of media coverage of the war in Ukraine'. [online] Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. Available at:

<a href="https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/digital-news-report/2022/perceptions-media-coverage-war-Ukraine">https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/digital-news-report/2022/perceptions-media-coverage-war-Ukraine</a> [Accessed 30 June 2022].

Elassar, A., (2022). 'Ukrainian Americans are Overcome with Fear and Anger as Russian Troops Take Aim at Kyiv'. [online] CNN. Available at:

<a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2022/02/27/us/ukrainian-americans-russia-war/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2022/02/27/us/ukrainian-americans-russia-war/index.html</a> [Accessed 11 April 2022].

Entman, R., (1993). 'Framing: Toward Clarification of a Fractured Paradigm'. <u>Journal of</u> Communication, 43(4), pp.51-58.

Esser, F. and D'Angelo, P., (2003). 'Framing the Press and the Publicity Process'. <u>American</u> Behavioral Scientist, 46(5), pp.617-641.

EU DisinfoLab, (2021). 'The Role of "Media" in Producing and Spreading Disinformation Campaigns - EU DisinfoLab'. [online] www.disinfo.eu. Available at:

<a href="https://www.disinfo.eu/publications/the-role-of-media-in-producing-and-spreading-disinformation-campaigns/">https://www.disinfo.eu/publications/the-role-of-media-in-producing-and-spreading-disinformation-campaigns/</a> [Accessed 8 February 2022].

Financial Times, 2022. Ukraine Shores Up Cyber Defences in Readiness for Russian Attack. [online] FT.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.ft.com/content/778997c3-50ce-4b40-9c20-c8564c840a57">https://www.ft.com/content/778997c3-50ce-4b40-9c20-c8564c840a57</a> [Accessed 16 July 2022].

Fisher, M., (2022). 'Putin, Facing Sanction Threats, Has Been Saving for This Day'. [online] New York Times. Available at: <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2022/02/03/world/europe/putin-sanctions-proofing.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2022/02/03/world/europe/putin-sanctions-proofing.html</a> [Accessed 16 March 2022].

Frampton, B., (2015). 'Clickbait: The Changing Face of Online Journalism'. [online] BBC. Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-wales-34213693">https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-wales-34213693</a> [Accessed 10 March 2022].

Frederick, B., (2014). 'Ukraine and the Death of Territorial Integrity'. [online] Rand.org. Available at: <a href="https://www.rand.org/blog/2014/03/ukraine-and-the-death-of-territorial-integrity.html">https://www.rand.org/blog/2014/03/ukraine-and-the-death-of-territorial-integrity.html</a> [Accessed 8 February 2022].

Forrest, B., (2022). 'U.S.-Led Air Bridge of Weapons to Ukraine Seeks to Shore Up Kyiv's Ability to Resist Russia'. [online] The Wallstreet Journal. Available at:

<a href="https://www.wsj.com/articles/u-s-led-air-bridge-of-weapons-to-ukraine-seeks-to-shore-up-kyivs-ability-to-resist-russia-11644140852">https://www.wsj.com/articles/u-s-led-air-bridge-of-weapons-to-ukraine-seeks-to-shore-up-kyivs-ability-to-resist-russia-11644140852</a> [Accessed 11 February 2022].

Fox, S. and Fallows, D., (2003). 'The Internet and the Iraq War'. [online] Pew Research Center: Internet, Science & Tech. Available at:

<a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2003/04/01/the-internet-and-the-iraq-war/">https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2003/04/01/the-internet-and-the-iraq-war/</a>

[Accessed 14 January 2022].

Funakoshi, M., Lawson, H. and Deka, K., (2022). 'Tracking Sanctions Against Russia'. [online] Reuters. Available at: <a href="https://graphics.reuters.com/UKRAINE-CRISIS/SANCTIONS/byvrjenzmve/">https://graphics.reuters.com/UKRAINE-CRISIS/SANCTIONS/byvrjenzmve/</a> [Accessed 12 April 2022].

Gabbatt, A., (2010). 'Viktor Yanukovych Sworn in as Ukrainian President'. [online] The Guardian. Available at: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2010/feb/25/viktor-yanukovych-ukraine-president">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2010/feb/25/viktor-yanukovych-ukraine-president</a> [Accessed 20 July 2022].

Gabielkov, M., Ramachandran, A., Chaintreau, A. and Legout, A., (2016). 'Social Clicks: What and Who Gets Read on Twitter?'. <u>ACM SIGMETRICS Performance Evaluation</u>

Review, 44(1), pp.179-192.

Gamson, W. & Modigliani, A., (1987). <u>The Changing Culture of Affirmative Action, in Richard Braungart</u>, ed., 'Research in Political Sociology', Jai Press, Inc, Greenwich, CT, pp.137-177.

Gardner, F., (2022). 'Ukraine - The Narrative the West Doesn't Hear'. [online] BBC News. Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-61272203">https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-61272203</a> [Accessed 15 May 2022].

Gedmin, J., (2014). 'Beyond Crimea: What Vladimir Putin Really Wants'. World Affairs, 11(2), pp.8-16.

Gharib, M., (2022). 'NPR Cookie Consent and Choices'. [online] Npr.org. Available at: <a href="https://www.npr.org/sections/goatsandsoda/2022/03/04/1084230259/not-every-war-gets-the-same-coverage-as-russias-invasion-and-that-has-consequence">https://www.npr.org/sections/goatsandsoda/2022/03/04/1084230259/not-every-war-gets-the-same-coverage-as-russias-invasion-and-that-has-consequence</a> [Accessed 8 April 2022].

Gilboa, E., (2005). 'The CNN Effect: The Search for a Communication Theory of International Relations'. <u>Political Communication</u>, 22(1), pp.27-44.

Gitlin, T., (2003). <u>The Whole World Is Watching: Mass Media in the Making & Unmaking of the New Left</u>. 1st ed. Berkeley: University of California Press, p.6.

Gomez, E., (2022). 'Soviet Nukes in Ukraine: A Bargaining Chip, Not a Deterrent'. [online] Cato.org. Available at: <a href="https://www.cato.org/blog/soviet-nukes-ukraine-bargaining-chip-not-deterrent">https://www.cato.org/blog/soviet-nukes-ukraine-bargaining-chip-not-deterrent</a> [Accessed 3 May 2022].

Gramer, R. and Mackinnon, A., (2022). 'Western Officials Warn Russia's Troops in Belarus Could Be Permanent'. [online] Foreign Policy. Available at:

<a href="https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/02/08/belarus-russia-troop-buildup-could-be-permanent-ukraine-crisis/">https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/02/08/belarus-russia-troop-buildup-could-be-permanent-ukraine-crisis/</a> [Accessed 12 April 2022].

Grossman, D., (2022). 'Ukraine War Is Motivating Taiwan to Better Secure Its Own Future'. [online] Rand Corporation. Available at: <a href="https://www.rand.org/blog/2022/05/ukraine-war-is-motivating-taiwan-to-better-secure-its.html">https://www.rand.org/blog/2022/05/ukraine-war-is-motivating-taiwan-to-better-secure-its.html</a> [Accessed 22 May 2022].

Groves, M. and Mundt, K., (2015). 'Friend or Foe? Google Translate in Language for Academic Purposes'. English for Specific Purposes, 37, pp.112-121.

Grytsenko, O., (2013). 'Ukraine U-Turn on Europe Pact was Agreed with Vladimir Putin'. [online] the Guardian. Available at:

<a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/nov/26/ukraine-u-turn-eu-pact-putin">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/nov/26/ukraine-u-turn-eu-pact-putin</a> [Accessed 6 February 2022].

Guler, M. and Shakirova, A., (2021). 'Deciphering Russia's 2021 National Security Strategy'. SETA

Gulf News, (2016). 'Yanukovych, A President Twice Removed'. [online] Gulfnews.com. Available at: <a href="https://gulfnews.com/lifestyle/yanukovych-a-president-twice-removed-1.1665554">https://gulfnews.com/lifestyle/yanukovych-a-president-twice-removed-1.1665554</a>> [Accessed 7 February 2022].

Haass, R., (2022). 'Tweet by Haas' [online] Available at:
<a href="https://twitter.com/RichardHaass/status/1496994917197189120">https://twitter.com/RichardHaass/status/1496994917197189120</a> [Accessed 6 March 2022].

Harris, S. and Sonne, P., (2021). 'Russia Planning Massive Military Offensive Against Ukraine Involving 175,000 Troops, U.S. Intelligence Warns'. [online] The Washington Post. Available at: <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/russia-ukraine-invasion/2021/12/03/98a3760e-546b-11ec-8769-2f4ecdf7a2ad\_story.html">https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/russia-ukraine-invasion/2021/12/03/98a3760e-546b-11ec-8769-2f4ecdf7a2ad\_story.html</a> [Accessed 12 March 2022].

Herman, E. and Chomsky, N., (2002). <u>Manufacturing Consent</u>. 2nd ed. New York: Pantheon Books.

Herszenhorn, D., Bayer, L. and von Der Burchard, H., (2022). 'Germany to Send Ukraine Weapons in Historic Shift on Military Aid'. [online] POLITICO. Available at: <a href="https://www.politico.eu/article/ukraine-war-russia-germany-still-blocking-arms-supplies/">https://www.politico.eu/article/ukraine-war-russia-germany-still-blocking-arms-supplies/</a> [Accessed 9 March 2022].

Heuvel, K., (2022). 'American Media's Approach to War Coverage Needs to be Fundamentally Reimagined'. [online] washingtonpost.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2022/04/19/american-medias-approach-war-coverage-needs-be-fundamentally-reimagined/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2022/04/19/american-medias-approach-war-coverage-needs-be-fundamentally-reimagined/</a> [Accessed 9 May 2022].

Hjarvard, S., (2008). 'The Mediatization of Society'. Nordicom Review, 29(2), pp.102-131.

Houeix, R., (2022). 'From the Maidan Protests to Russia's Invasion: Eight Years of Conflict in Ukraine'. [online] France 24. Available at:

<a href="https://www.france24.com/en/europe/20220228-from-the-maidan-protests-to-russia-s-invasion-eight-years-of-conflict-in-ukraine">https://www.france24.com/en/europe/20220228-from-the-maidan-protests-to-russia-s-invasion-eight-years-of-conflict-in-ukraine</a> [Accessed 13 March 2022].

Huntington, S., (1993). 'The Clash of Civilizations?'. Foreign Affairs, 72(3), p.22.

Ignatius, D., (2022). 'Putin Warned the West 15 Years Ago. Now, in Ukraine, He's Poised to Wage War'. [online] The Washington Post. Available at:

<a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2022/02/20/putin-ukraine-nato-2007-munich-conference">[Accessed 28 February 2022].</a>

International Organisation for Migration, (2022). '7.1 Million People Displaced by the War in Ukraine: IOM Survey'. [online] Available at: <a href="https://www.iom.int/news/71-million-people-displaced-war-ukraine-iom-survey">https://www.iom.int/news/71-million-people-displaced-war-ukraine-iom-survey</a> [Accessed 6 March 2022].

Johnstone, R., (2018). 'Government Bans Use of Phrase 'Fake News''. [online] Available at: <a href="https://www.civilserviceworld.com/professions/article/government-bans-use-of-phrase-fake-news">https://www.civilserviceworld.com/professions/article/government-bans-use-of-phrase-fake-news</a> [Accessed 9 February 2022].

Joshi, M., (2022). 'Digital Media is Causing Divisions, Fuelling Global Tensions: Reporters Without Borders'. [online] WION. Available at: <a href="https://www.wionews.com/world/digital-media-is-causing-divisions-fuelling-global-tensions-reporters-without-borders-476178">https://www.wionews.com/world/digital-media-is-causing-divisions-fuelling-global-tensions-reporters-without-borders-476178</a> [Accessed 22 May 2022].

Jiang, H., Zhou, R., Zhang, L., Wang, H. and Zhang, Y., (2018). 'Sentence Level Topic Models for Associated Topics Extraction'. World Wide Web, 22(6), pp.2545-2560.

J.P. Morgan, (2022). 'What's Next for Oil And Gas Prices As Sanctions On Russia Intensify'. [online] J.P. Morgan. Available at:

<a href="https://www.jpmorgan.com/insights/research/oil-gas-energy-prices">https://www.jpmorgan.com/insights/research/oil-gas-energy-prices</a> [Accessed 18 April 2022].

Kammer, A., Azour, J., Selassie, A., Goldfajn, I. and Rhee, C., (2022). 'How War in Ukraine Is Reverberating Across World's Regions'. [online] International Monetary Fund. Available at: <a href="https://blogs.imf.org/2022/03/15/how-war-in-ukraine-is-reverberating-across-worlds-regions/">https://blogs.imf.org/2022/03/15/how-war-in-ukraine-is-reverberating-across-worlds-regions/</a> [Accessed 10 April 2022].

Karatnycky, A., (2005). 'Ukraine's Orange Revolution'. [online] Foreign Affairs. Available at: <a href="https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/russia-fsu/2005-03-01/ukraines-orange-revolution">https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/russia-fsu/2005-03-01/ukraines-orange-revolution</a>> [Accessed 5 February 2022].

Kenez, P., (2016). <u>A History of the Soviet Union from the Beginning to its Legacy</u>. 3rd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p.330.

Kesslen, B., (2022). 'CBS News' Charlie D'Agata Apologizes for Saying Ukraine More 'Civilized' than Iraq, Afghanistan'. [online] Nypost.com. Available at: <a href="https://nypost.com/2022/02/26/cbs-news-charlie-dagata-apologizes-for-saying-ukraine-more-civilized-than-iraq-afghanistan/">https://nypost.com/2022/02/26/cbs-news-charlie-dagata-apologizes-for-saying-ukraine-more-civilized-than-iraq-afghanistan/</a> [Accessed 19 February 2022].

Kharpal, A., (2022). 'Russia May Aspire to a China-Style Internet, But It's a Long Way Off'. [online] www.cnbc.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.cnbc.com/2022/03/17/russia-ukraine-war-internet-censorship-china-great-firewall.html">https://www.cnbc.com/2022/03/17/russia-ukraine-war-internet-censorship-china-great-firewall.html</a> [Accessed 7 April 2022].

Khurshudyan, I. and Witte, G., (2022). 'Civilians Are Dying in Ukraine. But Exactly How Many Remains a Mystery'. [online] The Washington Post. Available at:

<a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/02/26/ukraine-deaths-casualties/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/02/26/ukraine-deaths-casualties/</a> [Accessed 8 March 2022].

Kilani, H., (2022). 'Al Jazeera Issues Apology After Presenter's "Racist Comments". [online] Doha News | Qatar. Available at: <a href="https://dohanews.co/al-jazeera-issues-apology-after-presenters-racist-comments/">https://dohanews.co/al-jazeera-issues-apology-after-presenters-racist-comments/</a> [Accessed 12 March 2022].

Kirby, P., (2022). 'Why Has Russia Invaded Ukraine and What Does Putin Want?'. [online] BBC News. Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-56720589">https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-56720589</a> [Accessed 24 May 2022].

Klein, E., (2020). 'Why the Media is So Polarized - and How it Polarizes Us'. [online] Vox. Available at: <a href="https://www.vox.com/2020/1/28/21077888/why-were-polarized-media-book-ezra-news">https://www.vox.com/2020/1/28/21077888/why-were-polarized-media-book-ezra-news</a> [Accessed 7 March 2022].

Kostyuk, N. and Zhukov, Y., (2017). 'Invisible Digital Front: Can Cyber Attacks Shape Battlefield Events?'. Journal of Conflict Resolution, 63(2), pp.317-347.

Krippendorff, K., (1989). Content Analysis. 1st ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publ., pp.403-409.

Kumar, R., (2022). 'How China Uses the News Media as a Weapon in its Propaganda War Against the West'. [online] Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. Available at: <a href="https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/news/how-china-uses-news-media-weapon-its-propaganda-war-against-west">https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/news/how-china-uses-news-media-weapon-its-propaganda-war-against-west</a> [Accessed 6 February 2022].

Lewis, S. and Melander, I., (2022). 'NATO Rejects Ukraine No-Fly Zone, Unhappy Zelenskiy Says This Means More Bombing'. [online] Reuters. Available at:

<a href="https://www.reuters.com/business/aerospace-defense/nato-meets-ukraine-calls-no-fly-zone-hinder-russia-2022-03-04/">https://www.reuters.com/business/aerospace-defense/nato-meets-ukraine-calls-no-fly-zone-hinder-russia-2022-03-04/</a> [Accessed 12 April 2022].

Lister, T. and John, T., (2022). 'Here's How Russia's Invasion of Ukraine Unfolded'. [online] CNN. Available at: <a href="https://edition.cnn.com/europe/live-news/ukraine-russia-news-02-24-22-intl/h\_12b5345ad5d6402d1e2fe5d9f90692f1">https://edition.cnn.com/europe/live-news/ukraine-russia-news-02-24-22-intl/h\_12b5345ad5d6402d1e2fe5d9f90692f1</a> [Accessed 18 March 2022].

Luscombe, R., (2022). 'Biden Commerce Secretary Shifts Blame for Inflation on to Russia's War in Ukraine'. [online] theguardian.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/usnews/2022/jun/05/biden-commerce-secretary-inflation-crisis">https://www.theguardian.com/usnews/2022/jun/05/biden-commerce-secretary-inflation-crisis</a> [Accessed 21 June 2022].

Madhani, A., Knickmeyer, E., Merchant, N. and Jaffe, A., (2021). 'U.S. Intelligence Finds Russia Planning Ukraine Offensive'. [online] The Associated Press. Available at: <a href="https://apnews.com/article/joe-biden-europe-russia-ukraine-vladimir-putin-9ef2a191af25e2920a0a1c75ccbe4c13">https://apnews.com/article/joe-biden-europe-russia-ukraine-vladimir-putin-9ef2a191af25e2920a0a1c75ccbe4c13</a> [Accessed 6 March 2022].

Magen, Z., Baruch, P. and Bagno-Moldavsky, O., (2014). 'The Annexation of Crimea: International Ramifications'. <u>INSS Insight</u>, (532).

Mandelbaum, M., (1982). 'Vietnam: The Television War'. <u>Print Culture and Video Culture</u>, 111(4), pp.157-169.

Martin, P., (2022). 'Why So Many Iraqis Hate Us? Try "Towel Head" On for Size'. [online] Huffington Post. Available at: <a href="https://www.huffpost.com/entry/why-so-many-iraqis-hate-u">https://www.huffpost.com/entry/why-so-many-iraqis-hate-u</a> b 96330> [Accessed 8 April 2022].

Mateo, E., (2018). 'The Ukraine Crisis: A Clash of Narratives?'. [online] Uc.web.ox.ac.uk. Available at: <a href="https://uc.web.ox.ac.uk/article/the-ukraine-crisis-a-clash-of-narratives">https://uc.web.ox.ac.uk/article/the-ukraine-crisis-a-clash-of-narratives</a> [Accessed 12 February 2022].

Matthes, J. and Kohring, M., (2008). 'The Content Analysis of Media Frames: Toward Improving Reliability and Validity'. Journal of Communication, 58(2), pp.258-279.

Matthes, J., (2009). 'What's in a Frame? A Content Analysis of Media Framing Studies in the World's Leading Communication Journals', 1990-2005. <u>Journalism: Mass Communication</u>

<u>Quarterly</u>, 86(2), pp.349-367.

MeaningCloud, (2015). 'An Introduction to Sentiment Analysis / Opinion Mining'. [online] MeaningCloud. Available at: <a href="https://www.meaningcloud.com/blog/an-introduction-to-sentiment-analysis-opinion-mining-in-meaningcloud">https://www.meaningcloud.com/blog/an-introduction-to-sentiment-analysis-opinion-mining-in-meaningcloud</a> [Accessed 10 February 2022].

MeaningCloud, (n.d). 'Text Analytics'. [online] MeaningCloud. Available at: <a href="https://www.meaningcloud.com/solutions/text-analytics">https://www.meaningcloud.com/solutions/text-analytics</a> [Accessed 16 February 2022].

Mearsheimer, J., (2022). 'Why the Ukraine Crisis Is the West's Fault: The Liberal Delusions That Provoked Putin'. Council on Foreign Relations, 93(5), pp.77-89.

Mellen, R., (2022). 'The Human Toll of the Russia-Ukraine Conflict Since 2014'. [online] The Washington Post. Available at:

<a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/interactive/2022/russia-ukraine-conflict-photos-2014/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/interactive/2022/russia-ukraine-conflict-photos-2014/</a> [Accessed 8 February 2022].

Meyer, D., (2022). 'Why Is It So Hard To Get Accurate Death Tolls In the Russia-Ukraine War?'. [online] Fortune. Available at: <a href="https://fortune.com/2022/03/14/ukraine-russia-death-tolls-misinformation-find-your-own/">https://fortune.com/2022/03/14/ukraine-russia-death-tolls-misinformation-find-your-own/</a> [Accessed 27 March 2022].

Mirovalev, M., (2021). 'Russia and Ukraine Conflict Explained: What You Need to Know'. [online] Aljazeera.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/12/16/what-you-should-know-about-the-conflict-between-russia-ukraine">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/12/16/what-you-should-know-about-the-conflict-between-russia-ukraine</a> [Accessed 16 March 2022].

Mirovalev, M., (2022). 'Russia and Ukraine Conflict Explained: What You Need to Know'. [online] Aljazeera.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/12/16/what-you-should-know-about-the-conflict-between-russia-ukraine">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/12/16/what-you-should-know-about-the-conflict-between-russia-ukraine</a> [Accessed 16 January 2022].

Morris, C., (2022). 'Russia's Plan to Fight Back Against Western Sanctions'. [online] BBC News. Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/business-60480904">https://www.bbc.com/news/business-60480904</a> [Accessed 16 March 2022].

Munroe, T., Osborn, A. and Pamuk, H., (2022). 'China, Russia Partner Up Against West at Olympics Summit'. [online] Reuters. Available at:

<a href="https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/russia-china-tell-nato-stop-expansion-moscow-backs-beijing-taiwan-2022-02-04/">https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/russia-china-tell-nato-stop-expansion-moscow-backs-beijing-taiwan-2022-02-04/</a> [Accessed 15 March 2022].

NATO, (2022). 'NATO's Approach to Countering Disinformation'. [online] nato.int. Available at: <a href="https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/177273.htm">https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/177273.htm</a> [Accessed 6 February 2022].

NATO, (2022). 'Finland and Sweden Complete NATO Accession Talks'. [online] NATO. Available at: <a href="https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/news\_197737.htm">https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/news\_197737.htm</a> [Accessed 17 July 2022].

NATO, (2022). 'Membership Action Plan (MAP)'. [online] NATO. Available at: <a href="https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/topics">https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/topics</a> 37356.htm> [Accessed 3 June 2022].

NATO, (2008). 'NATO Decision on Open-Door Policy'. [online] Nato.int. Available at: <a href="https://www.nato.int/docu/update/2008/04-april/e0403h.html">https://www.nato.int/docu/update/2008/04-april/e0403h.html</a> [Accessed 8 March 2022].

NATO, (2019). 'The North Atlantic Treaty'. [online] NATO. Available at:

<a href="https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/official\_texts\_17120.htm">https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/official\_texts\_17120.htm</a> [Accessed 12 March 2022].

NATO, (2022). 'Relations with Ukraine'. [online] NATO. Available at:

<a href="https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics\_37750.htm">https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics\_37750.htm</a> [Accessed 17 July 2022].

Nechepurenko, I. and Troianovski, A., (2022). 'A War the Kremlin Tried to Disguise Becomes a Hard Reality for Russians'. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/02/world/europe/russia-ukraine-war-">https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/02/world/europe/russia-ukraine-war-</a>

casualties.html?action=click&module=RelatedLinks&pgtype=Article> [Accessed 18 April 2022].

Nelson, T., (2019). 'How RT Frames Conflict: A Comparative Analysis'. <u>Russian Journal of Communication</u>, 11(2), pp.126-140.

Novakova, Z., (2017). 'Four Dimensions of Societal Transformation'. <u>The International</u> Journal of Social Quality, 7(2), pp.1-29.

Office of the President of the Russian Federation, (2020). 'National Security Strategy of Russia'. [online] Available at:

<a href="https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/154915/Russia's%20National%20Security%20Strategy%20to%2020%20-%20Rustrans.pdf">https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/154915/Russia's%20National%20Security%20Strategy%20to%2020%20-%20Rustrans.pdf</a> [Accessed 4 February 2022].

Oleinik, A., (2022). 'War-Time Media Reporting is Shaping Opinions About Russia's Ukraine Invasion'. [online] The Conversation. Available at:

<a href="https://theconversation.com/war-time-media-reporting-is-shaping-opinions-about-russias-ukraine-invasion-180107">https://theconversation.com/war-time-media-reporting-is-shaping-opinions-about-russias-ukraine-invasion-180107</a> [Accessed 19 April 2022].

Oliver, M., Raney, A. and Bryant, J., (2008). <u>Media effects</u>. 3rd ed. New York: Routledge, p.18.

Palmer, E., (2018). 'British Government Bans the Phrase "Fake News," As It's "Poorly Defined and Misleading". [online] Newsweek. Available at:

<a href="https://www.newsweek.com/british-government-bans-phrase-fake-news-1182784">https://www.newsweek.com/british-government-bans-phrase-fake-news-1182784</a> [Accessed 6 April 2022].

Pan, Z. and Kosicki, G., (1993). 'Framing Analysis: An Approach to News Discourse'. Political Communication, 10(1), pp.55-75.

Parker, G., 2020. The Cambridge History of Warfare. 1st ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p.224.

Pifer, S., (2011). 'The Trilateral Process: The United States, Ukraine, Russia and Nuclear Weapons'. <u>Brookings Arms Control Series</u>. Brookings.

Pifer, S., (2019). 'Why Care About Ukraine and the Budapest Memorandum'. [online] Brookings. Available at: <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2019/12/05/why-care-about-ukraine-and-the-budapest-memorandum/">https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2019/12/05/why-care-about-ukraine-and-the-budapest-memorandum/</a> [Accessed 7 February 2022].

Pifer, S., (2013). 'Why Did Ukraine's Yanukovych Give in to Russian Pressure on EU Deal?'. [online] Brookings. Available at: <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/on-the-record/why-did-ukraines-yanukovych-give-in-to-russian-pressure-on-eu-deal/">https://www.brookings.edu/on-the-record/why-did-ukraines-yanukovych-give-in-to-russian-pressure-on-eu-deal/</a> [Accessed 16 February 2022].

Pszczel, R., (2022). 'The Consequences of Russia's Invasion of Ukraine for International Security – NATO and Beyond'. [online] Available at:

<a href="https://www.nato.int/docu/review/articles/2022/07/07/the-consequences-of-russias-invasion-of-ukraine-for-international-security-nato-and-beyond/index.html">https://www.nato.int/docu/review/articles/2022/07/07/the-consequences-of-russias-invasion-of-ukraine-for-international-security-nato-and-beyond/index.html</a> [Accessed 17 July 2022].

Race, M., (2022). 'EU Divided Over How to Step Away from Russian Energy'. [online] BBC News. Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/business-61298791">https://www.bbc.com/news/business-61298791</a> [Accessed 11 May 2022].

Reese, S., 2001. Framing Public Life. 1st ed. New York: Routledge, pp.95-106.

Reland, J., (2022). 'The Ukraine-EU Relationship - UK in a Changing Europe'. [online] UK in a Changing Europe (UKICE). Available at: <a href="https://ukandeu.ac.uk/explainers/the-ukraine-eu-relationship/">https://ukandeu.ac.uk/explainers/the-ukraine-eu-relationship/</a> [Accessed 15 May 2022].

Reporters Without Borders, (2022). 'RSF's 2022 World Press Freedom Index: A New Era of Polarisation'. [online] Youtube.com. Available at:

<a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DF5G7MW\_Tkk">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DF5G7MW\_Tkk</a> [Accessed 16 June 2022].

Reuters, (2022). 'Fines, Fear, Self-Censorship: Russia's New Ukraine Law Casts Chill'. [online] Voice of America. Available at: <a href="https://www.voanews.com/a/fines-fear-self-censorship-russia-s-new-ukraine-law-casts-chill-/6481932.html">https://www.voanews.com/a/fines-fear-self-censorship-russia-s-new-ukraine-law-casts-chill-/6481932.html</a> [Accessed 17 April 2022].

Reuters, (2022). 'On World War II Anniversary, Ukraine President Zelensky Says Evil Has Returned'. [online] Reuters.com. Available at: <a href="https://nypost.com/2022/05/08/ukraine-president-zelensky-says-evil-has-returned-in-victory-day-address/">https://nypost.com/2022/05/08/ukraine-president-zelensky-says-evil-has-returned-in-victory-day-address/</a> [Accessed 16 May 2022].

Robinson, P., (1999). 'The CNN Effect: Can the News Media Drive Foreign Policy?'. Review of International Studies, 25(2), pp.301-309.

Roskomnadzor, (2022). [online] www.rkn.gov.ru. Available at: <a href="https://rkn.gov.ru/news/rsoc/news74084.htm">https://rkn.gov.ru/news/rsoc/news74084.htm</a> [Accessed 15 May 2022].

Roth, A., (2021). 'Putin Warns of Possible Military Response Over 'Aggressive' NATO'. [online] the Guardian. Available at: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/dec/21/putin-warns-of-possible-military-response-to-aggressive-nato-russia">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/dec/21/putin-warns-of-possible-military-response-to-aggressive-nato-russia</a> [Accessed 9 February 2022].

Sabbagh, D., (2022). 'Ukraine Fears Western Support Will Fade as Media Loses Interest in the War'. [online] the Guardian. Available at:

<a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jun/12/ukraine-fears-western-support-will-fade-as-media-loses-interest-in-the-war">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jun/12/ukraine-fears-western-support-will-fade-as-media-loses-interest-in-the-war</a> [Accessed 14 June 2022].

Sadeghi, M., (2022). 'Fact Check: Baseless Claims that Russian Attack on Mariupol Hospital was 'Staged''. [online] Usatoday.com. Available at:

<a href="https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/factcheck/2022/03/15/fact-check-russian-attack-mariupol-hospital-not-staged/7041649001/">https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/factcheck/2022/03/15/fact-check-russian-attack-mariupol-hospital-not-staged/7041649001/</a> [Accessed 21 April 2022].

Saraisky, N., (2016). 'Analyzing Public Discourse: Using Media Content Analysis to Understand the Policy Process'. Current Issues in Comparative Education, 18(1), pp.26-41.

Sangal, A., Wagner, M., Vogt, A., Macaya, M., Picheta, R., Said-Moorhouse, L., Upright, E., Chowdhury, M. and Alfonso, F., (2022). 'Here's How Russia's Invasion of Ukraine Unfolded'. [online] CNN. Available at: <a href="https://edition.cnn.com/europe/live-news/ukraine-russia-news-02-24-22-intl/h\_12b5345ad5d6402d1e2fe5d9f90692f1">https://edition.cnn.com/europe/live-news/ukraine-russia-news-02-24-22-intl/h\_12b5345ad5d6402d1e2fe5d9f90692f1</a> [Accessed 20 March 2022].

Sanger, D., Schmitt, E., Cooper, H., Barnes, J. and Vogel, K., (2022). 'Arming Ukraine: 17,000 Anti-Tank Weapons in 6 Days and a Clandestine Cybercorps'. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/06/us/politics/us-ukraine-weapons.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/06/us/politics/us-ukraine-weapons.html</a> [Accessed 14 March 2022].

Schechner, S., (2022). 'EU Orders Removal of Russian State-Owned Media From Search Results, Social-Media Reshares'. [online] Available at:

<a href="https://www.wsj.com/livecoverage/russia-ukraine-latest-news-2022-03-09/card/eu-orders-removal-of-russian-state-owned-media-from-search-results-social-media-reshares-Nxb4WXbCaQnCUMmL9Mvk">https://www.wsj.com/livecoverage/russia-ukraine-latest-news-2022-03-09/card/eu-orders-removal-of-russian-state-owned-media-from-search-results-social-media-reshares-Nxb4WXbCaQnCUMmL9Mvk</a> [Accessed 22 March 2022].

Sciutto, J. and Bertrand, N., (2021). 'Russia Positions More Forces, Supply Lines as Fears Rise of Potential Ukraine Invasion'. [online] CNN. Available at:

<a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2021/12/03/politics/russian-forces-ukraine-border/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2021/12/03/politics/russian-forces-ukraine-border/index.html</a>

[Accessed 12 February 2022].

Seldin, J., (2022). 'NATO Fears Russia's Failures in Ukraine Making Putin More Dangerous'. [online] VOA. Available at: <a href="https://www.voanews.com/a/nato-fears-russia-failures-in-ukraine-making-putin-more-dangerous/6498217.html">https://www.voanews.com/a/nato-fears-russia-failures-in-ukraine-making-putin-more-dangerous/6498217.html</a> [Accessed 6 April 2022].

Semetko, H. and Valkenburg, P., (2000). 'Framing European politics: A Content Analysis of Press and Television News'. <u>Journal of Communication</u>, 50(2), pp.93-109.

Shah, D., Watts, M., Domke, D. and Fan, D., (2002). 'News Framing and Cueing of Issue Regimes'. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, 66(3), pp.339-370.

Simmons, A., (2022). 'Putin Announces Special Military Operation in Eastern Ukraine'. [online] The Wallstreet Journal. Available at: <a href="https://www.wsj.com/livecoverage/russia-ukraine-latest-news/card/putin-announces-special-military-operation-in-eastern-ukraine-BBbiFSHMKssPMTur01Vh">https://www.wsj.com/livecoverage/russia-ukraine-latest-news/card/putin-announces-special-military-operation-in-eastern-ukraine-BBbiFSHMKssPMTur01Vh</a> [Accessed 5 March 2022].

Solchanyk, R., (2001). <u>Ukraine and Russia: The Post-Soviet Transition</u>. 1st ed. Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, p.9.

Somerville, K., (2017). 'Framing Conflict – The Cold War and After: Reflections from an Old Hack'. Media, War & Conflict, 10(1), pp.48-58.

Snow, D., Rochford, E., Worden, S. and Benford, R., (1986). 'Frame Alignment Processes, Micromobilization, and Movement Participation'. <u>American Sociological Review</u>, 51(4), p.464-481.

Sparks, H., (2020). 'New Twitter Feature Challenges Users to Read Articles Before Sharing. [online] New York Post'. Available at: <a href="https://nypost.com/2020/06/11/twitter-feature-asks-users-if-theyve-read-content-before-sharing/">https://nypost.com/2020/06/11/twitter-feature-asks-users-if-theyve-read-content-before-sharing/</a> [Accessed 24 June 2022].

Stafford, A., (2013). 'The Role of the Media During the Cold War'. [online] E-International Relations. Available at: <a href="https://www.e-ir.info/2013/10/26/the-role-of-the-media-during-the-cold-war/">https://www.e-ir.info/2013/10/26/the-role-of-the-media-during-the-cold-war/</a> [Accessed 5 March 2022].

Stern, D., (2017). 'EU and Ukraine - Close But Not That Close'. [online] POLITICO.

Available at: <a href="https://www.politico.eu/article/eu-and-ukraine-close-but-not-that-close/">https://www.politico.eu/article/eu-and-ukraine-close-but-not-that-close/</a>
[Accessed 12 February 2022].

Stockholm International Peace Research Institute, (2022). 'World Military Expenditure Passes \$2 Trillion for First Time'. [online] Sipri.org. Available at:

<a href="https://www.sipri.org/media/press-release/2022/world-military-expenditure-passes-2-trillion-first-">https://www.sipri.org/media/press-release/2022/world-military-expenditure-passes-2-trillion-first-</a>

time#:~:text=Russia%20increased%20its%20military%20expenditure,cent%20of%20GDP% 20in%202021.> [Accessed 8 May 2022].

Strohecker, K., (2022). 'How a Russia-Ukraine Conflict Might Hit Global Markets'. [online] Reuters. Available at: <a href="https://www.reuters.com/markets/europe/how-russian-ukraine-conflict-might-hit-global-markets-2022-01-25/">https://www.reuters.com/markets/europe/how-russian-ukraine-conflict-might-hit-global-markets-2022-01-25/</a> [Accessed 14 March 2022].

Stubb, A., (2022). 'NATO Entry for Finland and Sweden Will Enhance European Security'. [online] Financial Times (FT). Available at: <a href="https://www.ft.com/content/e85825af-5172-44c4-9662-f7ceca40e8ac">https://www.ft.com/content/e85825af-5172-44c4-9662-f7ceca40e8ac</a> [Accessed 28 May 2022].

Suciu, P., (2022). 'Social Media Is Impacting Military Performance And Changing The Nature Of War'. [online] Forbes. Available at:

<a href="https://www.forbes.com/sites/petersuciu/2022/06/07/social-media-is-impacting-military-performance-and-changing-the-nature-of-war/?sh=562fa7bee394">https://www.forbes.com/sites/petersuciu/2022/06/07/social-media-is-impacting-military-performance-and-changing-the-nature-of-war/?sh=562fa7bee394</a> [Accessed 20 June 2022].

Szwed, R., (2016). <u>Framing of the Ukraine-Russia Conflict in Online and Social Media</u>. Riga: NATO StratCom COE,

Tannenbaum, P., (1953). 'The Effect of Headlines on the Interpretation of News Stories'.

Journalism Quarterly, 30(2), pp.189-197.

Taylor, C. and Macias, A., (2022). 'Russia Says It's Begun Partial Troop Pullback from Ukraine Border; NATO Urges Caution'. [online] CNBC. Available at:

<a href="https://www.cnbc.com/2022/02/15/ukraine-concerns-ease-on-report-of-partial-pullback-by-russian-troops.html">https://www.cnbc.com/2022/02/15/ukraine-concerns-ease-on-report-of-partial-pullback-by-russian-troops.html</a> [Accessed 21 March 2022].

Teddlie, C. and Tashakkori, A., (2008). <u>Foundations of Mixed Methods Research: Integrating Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches in the Social and Behavioral Sciences</u>. 1st ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage, p.80.

Thompson, S., (2022). 'The War in Ukraine, as Seen on Russian TV'. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at: <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2022/05/06/technology/russian-propaganda-television.html">https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2022/05/06/technology/russian-propaganda-television.html</a> [Accessed 20 May 2022].

Tidy, J., (2022). 'Ukraine Says it is Fighting First 'Hybrid War''. [online] BBC News.

Available at: <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-60622977">https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-60622977</a> [Accessed 4 April 2022].

Tooze, A., (2022). 'Ukraine's War Has Already Changed the World's Economy'. [online] Foreign Policy. Available at: <a href="https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/04/05/ukraine-russia-war-world-economy/">https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/04/05/ukraine-russia-war-world-economy/</a> [Accessed 11 April 2022].

Traynor, I., (2013). 'Ukraine Suspends talks on EU Trade Pact as Putin Wins Tug of War'. [online] The Guardian. Available at:

<a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/nov/21/ukraine-suspends-preparations-eu-trade-pact">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/nov/21/ukraine-suspends-preparations-eu-trade-pact</a> [Accessed 3 March 2022].

Treisman, D., (2016). 'Why Putin Took Crimea: The Gambler in the Kremlin'. <u>Foreign Affairs</u>, 95(3), pp.47-54.

Troianovski, A., (2022). 'Why Vladimir Putin Invokes Nazis to Justify His Invasion of Ukraine'. [online] New York Times. Available at:

<a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/17/world/europe/ukraine-putin-nazis.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/17/world/europe/ukraine-putin-nazis.html</a> [Accessed 14 April 2022].

Tsfati, Y., Boomgaarden, H., Strömbäck, J., Vliegenthart, R., Damstra, A. and Lindgren, E., (2020). 'Causes and Consequences of Mainstream Media Dissemination of Fake News: Literature Review and Synthesis'. <u>Annals of the International Communication Association</u>, 44(2), pp.157-173.

Turp-Balazs, C., (2022). 'How to Communicate Like Zelensky: Make it Personal'. [online] Emerging Europe. Available at: <a href="https://emerging-europe.com/news/how-to-communicate-like-zelensky-make-it-personal/">https://emerging-europe.com/news/how-to-communicate-like-zelensky-make-it-personal/</a> [Accessed 29 May 2022].

United Nations, (2022). '30,000 Ukrainians Returning Home Every Day, Say Relief Agencies'. [online] United Nations (UN). Available at:

<a href="https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/04/1116212">https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/04/1116212</a> [Accessed 5 May 2022].

United Nations, (2022). 'General Assembly Resolution Demands End to Russian Offensive in Ukraine'. [online] United Nations (UN). Available at:

<a href="https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/03/1113152">https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/03/1113152</a> [Accessed 8 April 2022].

United Nations, (2016). 'Goal 16: Right to press freedom and information - United Nations Sustainable Development'. [online] United Nations Sustainable Development. Available at: <a href="https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/07/goal-16-right-to-press-freedom-and-information/">https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/07/goal-16-right-to-press-freedom-and-information/</a> [Accessed 14 March 2022].

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, (2022). 'Ukraine Refugee Situation'. [online] United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). Available at: <a href="https://data.unhcr.org/en/situations/ukraine">https://data.unhcr.org/en/situations/ukraine</a> [Accessed 22 July 2022].

United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, (2022). 'Ukraine: Civilian Casualty Update 22 April 2022'. [online] Available at:

<a href="https://www.ohchr.org/en/news/2022/04/ukraine-civilian-casualty-update-22-april-2022">https://www.ohchr.org/en/news/2022/04/ukraine-civilian-casualty-update-22-april-2022</a> [Accessed 29 April 2022].

United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, (2021). 'Conflict-Related Civilian Casualties in Ukraine. Kyiv: United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner' (OHCHR), pp.1-3.

United Nations, (2022). 'Ukraine War: \$100 Billion in Infrastructure Damage, and Counting'. [online] United Nations (UN). Available at:

<a href="https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/03/1114022">https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/03/1114022</a> [Accessed 25 March 2022].

United Nations Security Council, (1994). 'Letter Dated 7 December 1994 From the Permanent Representatives of the Russian Federation, Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America to the United Nations addressed to the Secretary-General'. New York: United Nations.

U.S. Congressional Research Service, (2022). <u>Russia's Invasion of Ukraine: NATO</u>

<u>Response</u>. Washington DC: U.S. Congress.

U.S. State Department, (2022). 'Fact vs. Fiction: Russian Disinformation on Ukraine - United States Department of State'. [online] United States Department of State. Available at: <a href="https://www.state.gov/fact-vs-fiction-russian-disinformation-on-ukraine/">https://www.state.gov/fact-vs-fiction-russian-disinformation-on-ukraine/</a> [Accessed 5 February 2022].

U.S. State Department, (n.d.) 'A Guide to the United States' History of Recognition,
Diplomatic, and Consular Relations', by Country, since 1776: Russia. [online]
History.state.gov. Available at: <a href="https://history.state.gov/countries/russia">https://history.state.gov/countries/russia</a>> [Accessed 8 May 2022].

U.S. Department of State, (2020). <u>GEC Special Report: Pillars of Russia's Disinformation</u> and Propaganda Ecosystem. Washington DC: U.S. Department of State.

Varshalomidze, T. and Child, D., (2021). 'US Warns Russia Over Ukraine As Fears of War Rise'. [online] Al Jazeera. Available at: <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/12/2/usrussia-talks-as-ukraine-tensions-mount-live-updates">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/12/2/usrussia-talks-as-ukraine-tensions-mount-live-updates</a> [Accessed 11 March 2022].

Vaski, T., (2022). 'The Budapest Memorandum: A Deal That Should Have Ensured Peace in Ukraine'. [online] Hungary Today. Available at: <a href="https://hungarytoday.hu/budapest-memorandum-hungary-ukraine-russia/">https://hungarytoday.hu/budapest-memorandum-hungary-ukraine-russia/</a> [Accessed 11 April 2022].

Vicari, S., (2010). 'Measuring Collective Action Frames: A Linguistic Approach to Frame Analysis'. Poetics, 38(5), pp.504-525.

Voice of America, (2021). 'Prosecutors Push for Life Sentences in Downing of Malaysia Airlines Flight MH17'. [online] VOA. Available at:

<a href="https://www.voanews.com/a/prosecutors-push-for-life-sentences-in-downing-of-malaysia-airlines-flight-mh17-/6364774.html">https://www.voanews.com/a/prosecutors-push-for-life-sentences-in-downing-of-malaysia-airlines-flight-mh17-/6364774.html</a> [Accessed 6 February 2022].

Walker, S., (2014). 'Ukraine's Former PM Rallies Protesters After Yanukovych Flees Kiev'. [online] The Guardian. Available at:

<a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/feb/22/ukraine-president-yanukovych-flees-kiev">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/feb/22/ukraine-president-yanukovych-flees-kiev</a> [Accessed 3 February 2022].

Waters, J., (2022). 'The Decline in Media Standards Cannot Be Exaggerated'. [online] The Irish Times. Available at: <a href="https://www.irishtimes.com/opinion/the-decline-in-media-standards-cannot-be-exaggerated-1.191085">https://www.irishtimes.com/opinion/the-decline-in-media-standards-cannot-be-exaggerated-1.191085</a> [Accessed 6 April 2022].

Webster, F., (2001). <u>Culture and Politics in the Information Age</u>. 1st ed. Hoboken: Taylor and Francis, p.15.

Weedon, J., (2015). 'Beyond 'Cyber War': Russia's Use of Strategic Cyber Espionage and Information Operations in Ukraine.' Tallinn: NATO Cooperative Cyber Defence Centre of Excellence (CCDCOE).

Wingrove, J., (2022). 'Biden Says He'd Fight World War III for NATO But Not for Ukraine'. [online] Bloomberg.com. Available at:

<a href="https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-03-11/biden-says-he-d-fight-world-war-iii-for-nato-but-not-for-ukraine">https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-03-11/biden-says-he-d-fight-world-war-iii-for-nato-but-not-for-ukraine</a> [Accessed 26 March 2022].

The World Bank, (2022). 'Russian Invasion to Shrink Ukraine Economy by 45 Percent this Year'. [online] The World Bank. Available at: <a href="https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2022/04/10/russian-invasion-to-shrink-ukraine-economy-by-45-percent-this-year">https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2022/04/10/russian-invasion-to-shrink-ukraine-economy-by-45-percent-this-year</a> [Accessed 27 April 2022].

World Trade Organisation, (n.d). 'Ukraine Trade Statistics'. [online] World Trade Organisation (WTO). Available at:

<a href="https://www.wto.org/english/res\_e/statis\_e/daily\_update\_e/trade\_profiles/UA\_e.pdf">https://www.wto.org/english/res\_e/statis\_e/daily\_update\_e/trade\_profiles/UA\_e.pdf</a> [Accessed 8 July 2022].

Xu, B. and Albert, E., (2022). 'Media Censorship in China'. [online] Council on Foreign Relations. Available at: <a href="https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/media-censorship-china">https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/media-censorship-china</a> [Accessed 30 February 2022].

Yan, J., McCracken, N., Zhou, S. and Crowston, K., (2014). 'Optimizing Features in Active Machine Learning for Complex Qualitative Content Analysis'. ACL 2014 Workshop on Language Technologies and Computational Social Science, pp.44-48.

Yeshambel, D. and Bayable, D., (2016). 'The Extent of Media Coverage and Framing Types in the Celebration of Nations, Nationalities and Peoples Day in Ethiopia: In the Case of Some Selected Newspapers'. Global Journal of Human-Social Science, 16(7), pp.57-56.

York, C., (2022). 'How Ukraine Battles Russian Disinformation'. [online] New Lines Magazine. Available at: <a href="https://newlinesmag.com/reportage/how-ukraine-battles-russian-disinformation/">https://newlinesmag.com/reportage/how-ukraine-battles-russian-disinformation/</a> [Accessed 25 April 2022].

Zurawik, D., (2022). 'Why Ukraine is Expected to Stay on American Screens and Top of Mind'. [online] CNN. Available at: <a href="https://www.cnn.com/2022/03/30/media/media-coverage-ukraine-russia/index.html">https://www.cnn.com/2022/03/30/media/media-coverage-ukraine-russia/index.html</a> [Accessed 10 April 2022].